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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
WESTERN DISTRICT OF KENTUCKY

LOUISVILLE DIVISION
PINNACLE SURETY SERVICES, INC. )
)
Plaintiff, )
)
V. ) CIVIL ACTION NO. 3:15-CV-364-DJH
)
MANION STIGGER, LLP, ) Judge David J. Hale
COOPER & ELLIOTT, LLC, )
G. BRUCE STIGGER and )
REXE. ELLIOTT )
)
Defendants. )
)

PINNACLE SURETY SERVICES, INC.’S MOTION AND SUPPORTING
MEMORANDUM FOR LEAVE TO FILE FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT

Plaintiff, Pinnacle Surety Services, Inc. (“Pinnacle”), by and through counsel, pursuant to
Fed. R. Civ. P. 15, and for the reasons set forth herein, moves the Court for leave to file its First
Amended Complaint against Defendants, Manion Stigger, LLP (“Manion Stigger”), Cooper &
Elliott, LLC (“Cooper Elliott”), Rex H. Elliott (“Elliott”), and G. Bruce Stigger (“Stigger”)
(collectively, “Defendants™), in the form attached hereto and made a part hereof as Exhibit A.

Fed. R. Civ. P. 15(a)(2) reiterates the federal rules’ liberal policy in favor of allowing
cases to be tried on the merits, and provides that leave to amend should be freely given when
justice so requires. And, Fed. R. Civ. P. 15(c)(1)(B) provides that an amendment to a pleading
relates back to the date of the original pleading when, as we have here, “the amendment asserts a
claim or defense that arose out of the conduct, transaction, or occurrence set out — or attempted
to be set out — in the original pleading”. See also Hall v. Spencer County, 583 F.3d 930, 934-35

(6™ Cir. 2009).
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The suit against Defendants was filed on May 15, 2015, and after the planning meeting
and report and exchange of initial disclosures, the Court stayed the action on December 16, 2015,
pending the resolution of another matter which was resolved on March 3, 2016. The parties
recently attended a settlement conference on June 6, 2016, but were unable to resolve the matter.
There are no current deadlines, including any deadline to amend pleadings, and no scheduling
order in place. In fact, Pinnacle understands that the Court will soon issue an Order asking the
parties to confer and agree to a scheduling order. Therefore, there is no prejudice to Defendants
in granting this relief, especially at this early stage of the matter.

The First Amended Complaint, which contains new claims against Defendants for
fraudulent concealment/deceit, intentional interference with a contractual relationship and civil
conspiracy, along with facts and relief supporting same as well as the prior claims, all arise out
of the exact same conduct, transaction or occurrence of Defendants’ prior representation of
Pinnacle set out, or attempted to be set out, in Pinnacle’s original Complaint. These new claims
are based on the same nexus of facts and actions as the original Complaint and should come as
no surprise to Defendants, especially since Defendants have acknowledged the possibility of an
intentional interference with a contractual relationship claim, and noted that the claims asserted
in the original complaint are akin to fraud and civil conspiracy. See DN 33-1 at 130 and 132-33.
The Amended Complaint simply conforms to the evidence and complete relief cannot be
accorded among the parties without leave to add the additional claims, and supporting facts and
relief for same as well as the prior claims, against Defendants.

Therefore, Pinnacle respectfully requests that the Court determine that interests of justice
are served by allowing Pinnacle’s requested amendment to be filed and made a part of the record

in this matter. A proposed Order setting forth this relief has been simultaneously filed.
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Respectfully submitted,

/s/ P. Blaine Grant

P. Blaine Grant

HAYDEN GRANT PLLC

214 South 8™ Street, Suite 301
Louisville, Kentucky 40202
Phone: 502.638.2817

Fax: 502.849.0707

Email: Blaine@hayden-grant.com

COUNSEL FOR PLAINTIFF
PINNACLE SURETY SERVICES, INC.

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

It is hereby certified that on the 20th day of June 2016, I electronically filed this
document through the ECF System which should send a notice of electronic filing to all counsel
of record.

/s/ P. Blaine Grant
P. Blaine Grant
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
WESTERN DISTRICT OF KENTUCKY
LOUISVILLE DIVISION
PINNACLE SURETY SERVICES, INC.
Plaintiff,

V. CIVIL ACTION NO.3:15-CV-364-DJH
MANION STIGGER, LLP
-and-
COOPER & ELLIOTT, LLC
-and-
G. BRUCE STIGGER

-and-

REX H. ELLIOTT

Defendants.

e’ e’ N N N N N e N S N e N N N e N N N N e N N

FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT

Plaintiff, Pinnacle Surety Services, Inc. (“Pinnacle” or “Plaintiff”), by and through its
counsel, for its First Amended Complaint (“Complaint”) against Defendants, Manion Stigger,
LLP (“Manion Stigger”), Cooper & Elliott, LLC (“Cooper Elliott”), Rex H. Elliott (“Elliott™),
and G. Bruce Stigger (“Stigger”) (collectively, “Defendants”), seeking damages as a result of
Defendants’  fraudulent concealment/deceit, breaches of fiduciary duties, legal
malpractice/negligence, intentional interference with an employment agreement, civil

conspiracy, aiding and abetting breaches of fiduciary duties and other claims, states as follows:

#8882 EXHIBIT A
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THE PARTIES

1. Pinnacle is a for-profit corporation organized and existing under the laws of the
State of California, with its principal office at 151 Kalmus Drive A-201, Costa Mesa, California
92626.

2. Defendant Manion Stigger is a limited liability partnership organized and existing
under the laws of the State of Indiana, with its principal office in Indiana and its registered agent
located in, and the entity conducting business in, Louisville, Kentucky.

3. Defendant Stigger is an individual residing in Kentucky and at all times relevant
herein was licensed to practice law in the Commonwealth of Kentucky, conducted business in
Louisville, Kentucky, and acted and was authorized to act on behalf of Manion Stigger.

4. Defendant Cooper Elliott is a limited liability corporation organized and existing
under the laws of the State of Ohio with its principal place of business in Columbus, Ohio, and
conducted business in Louisville, Kentucky.

5. Defendant Elliott is an individual residing in Ohio and at all times relevant herein
was licensed to practice law in the State of Ohio, conducted business in Louisville, Kentucky,
and acted and was authorized to act on behalf of Cooper Elliott.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

6. This Court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1332, in that it
is a civil action between parties of different states in which the amount in controversy exceeds
$75,000.00, exclusive of interest and costs.

7. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants arising out of their conduct

and contacts in the Commonwealth of Kentucky.
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8. Venue of this action lies in the United States District Court for the Western
District of Kentucky, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(a)(2), in that the substantial majority of
events, acts and/or omissions giving rise to the claims set forth herein occurred in Jefferson
County, Kentucky, which lies within the Western District of Kentucky.

FACTS GIVING RISE TO THE CLAIMS

9. Pinnacle is a surety bond company in California, and expended considerable
resources in 2013 in opening an office in Louisville, Kentucky.

10.  In furtherance of opening the office, in or around April 13, 2013, Pinnacle entered
into a contractual agreement which was later reformed due to a printing error (“Agreement”)
with Todd Loehnert (“Loehnert”) and Brian Ayres (“Ayres”) to open Pinnacle’s office in
Louisville, Kentucky. See attached Exhibits 1A and 1B. Lochnert and Ayres ended their
employment at Wells Fargo Insurance Services USA, Inc. (“Wells Fargo”) prior to entering into
the Agreement with Pinnacle.

11.  Among other terms and conditions, the Agreement required Loehnert and Ayres
to work for Pinnacle for a minimum of three years and not engage in any other insurance or
surety business, or any business competitive to that of Pinnacle, while employed by Pinnacle.
See Exhibit 1A at ] 1 and 3 and 1B at § 13.

12. On or about April 25, 2013, Wells Fargo filed Civil Action Case No. 13-CI-
002150 in Jefferson Circuit Court (“Wells Litigation™) against Loehnert and Ayres for, among
other things, breaching their employment agreement with Wells Fargo. Wells Fargo also sued
Pinnacle for hiring Loehnert and Ayres.

13.  Regardless of their prior relationship, and rather than suggest that Pinnacle obtain

separate counsel, Defendants jointly represented Loehnert, Ayres, and Pinnacle in the Wells
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Litigation, and Pinnacle paid Defendants $32,650.00 for their legal representation. In doing so,
Defendants also consented to the jurisdiction and the rules of the Kentucky Supreme Court
governing professional misconduct.

14.  Importantly, however, Defendants never obtained the necessary informed consent
waiver from Pinnacle to jointly represent Pinnacle, Loehnert and Ayres during the course of the
representation, nor did Defendants send any written correspondence to Pinnacle indicating that
their legal representation had ceased.

15. During their representation of Pinnacle, Loehnert, and Ayres, Defendants
undertook numerous acts of representation on behalf of Pinnacle, which included: asserting
affirmative defenses for Pinnacle, answering the complaint on behalf of Pinnacle, responding to
discovery on Pinnacle’s behalf, negotiating a protective order and gathering extensive responsive
documents from Pinnacle, addressing the request for the deposition of a corporate representative
of Pinnacle, communicating with Pinnacle regarding strategy and facts of the case, settling the
Wells Litigation on behalf of Pinnacle, and ultimately, the preparation and obtaining execution
of the confidential settlement agreement between Loehnert, Ayres, Pinnacle and Wells Fargo
which made Loehnert, Ayres and Pinnacle jointly and severally financially responsible to Wells
Fargo through at least June 4, 2014, when the final settlement payment was due.

16.  Defendants acted not only as legal counsel, but fiduciaries, to Pinnacle from the
time the Wells Litigation was initiated against Pinnacle, Loehnert and Ayres on April 25, 2013
through at least the Wells Fargo final settlement payment on June 4, 2014.

17.  Defendants owed to Pinnacle at least throughout this time period undivided duties

of reasonable care, utmost integrity, fidelity, good faith, allegiance, trust, loyalty, and to act, at

! In addition to their concurrent conflict of interest, Defendants also owed additional duties to Pinnacle as a former
client. See, e.g., SCR 3.130(1.7) and (1.9).
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all times, in the best interests of and to the benefit of Pinnacle with full and informed disclosure,
and not to acquire or take on interests in conflict or in competition with Pinnacle.

18.  Yet, and clearly during their representation of Pinnacle, Defendants acted directly
and materially adverse to Pinnacle by encouraging and assisting Pinnacle’s employees (Loehnert
and Ayres) to prematurely breach their three year employment Agreement with Pinnacle.

19. Pinnacle alleges, on information and belief, that Elliott even planted this seed and
encouraged as early as August 6, 2013, only months after the Agreement was signed, that
Loehnert and Ayres should improperly leave Pinnacle prematurely given how well they could do
financially on their own, while also acknowledging that Loehnert and Ayres would have a
financial obligation to Pinnacle if they did leave prematurely.’

20.  These adverse actions against Pinnacle occurred without disclosure to Pinnacle by
Defendants, while Defendants represented Pinnacle’s legal interests and owed it the highest
fiduciary duties, at Defendants’ direction and with their knowledge, and while Loehnert and
Ayres were still employed by Pinnacle and owed contractual, fiduciary and other legal duties to
Pinnacle.

21.  In addition, as early as April 24, 2014, and clearly during their representation of
Pinnacle, Stigger directly assisted Loehnert and Ayres, while employed by Pinnacle, in preparing

for, forming, organizing, starting and even acting as the registered agent for a competing

2 Defendants contend that this email correspondence is protected by privilege. Pinnacle, therefore, has not attached
this email as an Exhibit to the Complaint. Pinnacle, however, disagrees with the privilege objection for a variety of
reasons and asserts that Loehnert and Ayres waived the privilege because any communications from or to Loehnert
or Ayres on the communication systems of Pinnacle are the property of Pinnacle, and Loehnert and Ayres were
aware they had no expectation of privacy on Pinnacle’s communication systems, that personal use was not allowed,
that Pinnacle had access to all their communications, and their communications could be strictly monitored by
Pinnacle. In addition, this email correspondence was made in order to commit fraud on Pinnacle, fraudulently
conceal information from Pinnacle, or in breach of fiduciary duty to Pinnacle, and the crime/fraud exception
excludes the email from any privilege protection. Pinnacle understands that Defendants intend to move to dismiss
this Complaint. Pinnacle will submit this email in opposition to any such motion and for in camera review by the
Court.
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business directly against Pinnacle named L.A. Surety LLC (“L.A. Surety™). See attached Exhibit
1L.

22.  Indeed, and in addition to obtaining a taxpayer identification number, Stigger
signed and filed with the Kentucky Secretary of State L.A. Surety’s Articles of Organization and
is even listed as a registered agent for L.A. Surety. Id..

23.  Importantly, and according to Elliott, 100% of the carriers Pinnacle served in
Kentucky are now with L.A. Surety — the organization Stigger helped prepare, form, organize,
start and even act on behalf of — all to the great detriment of Pinnacle. See attached Exhibit IN.

24.  Again, all of these adverse actions against Pinnacle occurred without disclosure to
Pinnacle by Defendants, while Defendants represented Pinnacle’s legal interests and owed it the
highest fiduciary duties, at Defendants’ direction and with their knowledge, and while Lochnert
and Ayres were still employed by Pinnacle and owed contractual, fiduciary and other legal duties
to Pinnacle.

25.  Despite a successful financial relationship between the parties, Loehnert and
Ayres made a proposal, on or about May 5, 2014, suggesting that Pinnacle and Loehnert and
Ayres separate their relationship outlined in the Agreement, with Loehnert and Ayres paying
Pinnacle at a minimum $250,000, among other things, which Pinnacle respectfully declined. See
attached Exhibits 1H and 1I. This separation proposal was submitted by Loehnert and Ayres
after only one year of working under the Agreement and, on information and belief, was
submitted at the direction and with the knowledge of Defendants.

26. Then, on information and belief, Pinnacle alleges that Elliott, on May 16, 2014,
about one year after the three year agreement was signed, affirmatively told Loehnert and Ayres

to just leave and breach their Agreement with Pinnacle, which they did, while recognizing that
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there could be a conflict in representing Loehnert and Ayres against Pinnacle.’

27.  Additionally, Pinnacle incorporates and adopts herein by reference as if set forth
at length the various improper conduct of Loehnert and Ayres against Pinnacle at this time
which, on information and belief, was at Defendants’ direction and with their knowledge. See
attached Exhibit 1 at 9 34 — 41 as well as referenced Exhibits.

28.  Incredibly, and as noted above, all of these adverse actions against Pinnacle
occurred without disclosure to Pinnacle by Defendants, while Defendants represented Pinnacle’s
legal interests and owed it the highest fiduciary duties, on information and belief, at Defendants’
direction and with their knowledge, and while Loehnert and Ayres were still employed by
Pinnacle and owed contractual, fiduciary and other legal duties to Pinnacle.

29.  Defendants then made clear to Pinnacle their intention of being directly and
materially adverse to Pinnacle. Specifically, on May 23, 2014, Defendants, on behalf of
Loehnert and Ayres, sent a letter to Pinnacle demanding that Pinnacle pay Loehnert and Ayres an
unspecified amount of money. Pinnacle disputed that any money was owed. See attached
Exhibit 1J.

30.  Loechnert and Ayres then, in further breach of the Agreement and their fiduciary
duties to Pinnacle, and with Defendants’ counsel and assistance, attempted to resign from

Pinnacle effective May 30, 2014 (if one assumed the premature resignation was proper, which it

3 Defendants also contend that this email correspondence is protected by privilege. Pinnacle, therefore, has not
attached this email as an Exhibit to the Complaint. Pinnacle, however, disagrees with the privilege objection for a
variety of reasons and asserts that Loehnert and Ayres waived the privilege because any communications from or to
Loehnert or Ayres on the communication systems of Pinnacle are the property of Pinnacle, and Loehnert and Ayres
were aware they had no expectation of privacy on Pinnacle’s communication systems, that personal use was not
allowed, that Pinnacle had access to all their communications, and their communications could be strictly monitored
by Pinnacle. In addition, this email correspondence was made in order to commit fraud on Pinnacle, fraudulently
conceal information from Pinnacle, or in breach of fiduciary duty to Pinnacle, and the crime/fraud exception
excludes the email from any privilege protection. Pinnacle understands that Defendants intend to move to dismiss
this Complaint. Pinnacle will submit this email in opposition to any such motion and for in camera review by the
Court.
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was not, it was actually effective June 8, 2014 per the Agreement), with one of them agreeing but
failing to continue his employment obligations with Pinnacle up to and including June 9, 2014,
which was well before the three year employment commitment was fulfilled, and continued to
improperly prepare for, form, and start, while employed at Pinnacle, a competing business
against Pinnacle. See attached Exhibit 1F.

31.  Again, incredibly, and as noted above, all of these adverse actions against
Pinnacle occurred without disclosure to Pinnacle by Defendants, or without full and proper
disclosure to Pinnacle by Defendants, while Defendants represented Pinnacle’s legal interests
and owed it the highest fiduciary duties, at Defendants’ direction and with their knowledge, and
while Loehnert and Ayres were still employed by Pinnacle and owed contractual, fiduciary and
other legal duties to Pinnacle.

32.  In addition to concealing and failing to disclose their own improper conduct, as
well as Loehnert and Ayres’ improper conduct, Defendants were aware of the Agreement and the
duties Loehnert and Ayres owed to Pinnacle, and intentionally, improperly or maliciously
interfered with same while Loehnert and Ayres were still subject to the Agreement with Pinnacle
and still owed duties to Pinnacle. Moreover, Defendants, Lochnert and Ayres improperly
conspired with and aided and abetted each other in their improper conduct described fully above.

33.  Pinnacle informed Defendants that by continuing representation of Loehnert and
Ayres against Pinnacle, Defendants were in breach of their fiduciary and other duties to Pinnacle,
were engaging in actionable conduct, and had a direct conflict of interest. See attached Exhibit 2.

34.  Defendants defiantly disputed any conflict, sent multiple correspondence
improperly acting on behalf of Loehnert and Ayres and adverse to Pinnacle, and continued their

reckless conduct towards their client, Pinnacle, by filing suit against Pinnacle on behalf of
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Lochnert and Ayres on June 9, 2014, in Jefferson Circuit Court, Case No. 14-CI-03017. In doing
so, Defendants again consented to the jurisdiction and the rules of the Kentucky Supreme Court
governing professional misconduct.

35.  That same day, Pinnacle sued Loehnert and Ayres in the United States District
Court, Western District of Kentucky, Civil Action No. 3:14-CV-425-H, and after removing the
state court action and seeking to consolidate it with the federal court action (which was granted),
filed a Motion to have Defendants disqualified as counsel for Loehnert and Ayres.

36. On November 18, 2014, the late John G. Heyburn II, Senior U.S. District Court
Judge, granted Pinnacle’s Motion to disqualify Defendants, finding that: (1) an attorney-client
relationship existed between Pinnacle and Defendants, (2) Defendants were directly and
materially adverse to Pinnacle, and (3) the subject matter of Defendants’ representation of
Pinnacle in the Wells Litigation was substantially related and relevantly interconnected to the
matter between Pinnacle, Loehnert and Ayres and revealed Pinnacle’s pattern of conduct. See
attached Exhibit 3.

37.  After moving for reconsideration of the disqualification Order above, Judge
Heyburn, on March 12, 2015, ruled again that Defendants “must be disqualified” from
representing Loehnert and Ayres against Pinnacle, while not even considering or being presented
with the majority of the various actionable conduct of Defendants against Pinnacle set forth
herein. This suit followed.

38.  As a direct cause and result of Defendants’ own improper and independent
actions, which are not compromised, barred, precluded, or affected in any way by the Agreement

the Defendants are not even a party to, or Pinnacle’s lawsuit and settlement with Loehnert and

4 On June 1, 2015, the Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals denied Defendants’ request for appeal of the disqualification
ruling.
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Ayres, and as actual (not liquidated) damages, Pinnacle lost, among other things, the remaining
two years of business, profits and opportunities under its Agreement given Loehnert and Ayres’
premature departure which at a minimum totals $744,000, the business start-up costs and
expenses, its office, goodwill, and business reputation in the community. Pinnacle was also
forced to pay to pursue Defendants, pay to pursue and defend an action against Loehnert and
Ayres, and engage in a the costly endeavor of disqualifying Defendants from representing
Loehnert and Ayres given their inherent conflicts of interests.

39.  Defendants choose to ignore that they owed fiduciary duties to Pinnacle, but at the
same time consistently acted directly adverse to Pinnacle and its interests and damaged Pinnacle.

40.  All conditions precedent to bringing this action have been satisfied, and Pinnacle
reserves its right to amend this Complaint with additional factual allegations, causes of action
and requested relief.

CAUSES OF ACTION

COUNT I
LEGAL MALPRACTICE/NEGLIGENCE — ALL DEFENDANTS

41.  Pinnacle restates and incorporates herein by reference each and every allegation
contained in the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.

42.  Defendants, and each of them, owed Pinnacle an undivided duty of loyalty and
care, including the duty to exercise the ordinary care of a reasonably competent attorney in the
same or similar circumstances, and to at all times act in Pinnacle’s best interests and to the
benefit of Pinnacle, and also to carry out legal representation of Pinnacle in an ethical manner,
and to avoid conflicts of interest in conformance with their legal obligations to Pinnacle, as well
as all of the rules governing the conduct of attorneys, including, but not limited to, SCR

3.130(1.6)(a), 3.130(1.7), and 3.130(1.9)(a).

10
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43.  Defendants, and each of them, acted negligently and committed legal malpractice
because they breached their duties to Pinnacle by failing to meet their duties of care and loyalty
to Pinnacle, to exercise the ordinary care of a reasonably competent attorney in the same or
similar circumstances, and to at all times act in Pinnacle’s bests interests and to the benefit of
Pinnacle, and also failed to carry out their legal representation of Pinnacle in an ethical manner
and to avoid conflicts of interest by acting directly and materially adverse to Pinnacle and in
conscious disregard of their obligations to Pinnacle.

44, As fully set forth in the facts section above, the acts and omissions of Defendants,
and each of them, constituting negligence and legal malpractice, all which should have been
evident to a reasonably competent attorney in the same or similar circumstances, include, but are
not limited to, the following:

a. Owing fiduciary and other duties to Pinnacle as its counsel, while at the same time

acting directly and materially adverse to Pinnacle;

b. Planting the seed, planning, directing, encouraging and counseling Loehnert and
Ayres to breach the Agreement with Pinnacle, which they did;

c. Assisting, directing, engaging, preparing, encouraging, planning, facilitating,
implementing, aiding, and having knowledge of Loehnert and Ayres prematurely
proposing a separation from Pinnacle, breaching the Agreement and. their fiduciary
duties owed to Pinnacle, starting a competing surety company against Pinnacle, and
prematurely resigning from Pinnacle;

d. Preparing for, forming, organizing, starting and even acting as the registered agent
for a competing surety company against Pinnacle, L.A. Surety;

e. Concealing and failing to disclose to Pinnacle their actions and own improper

11
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conduct, as well as Loehnert and Ayres’ actions and improper conduct;

f. Having knowledge of and improperly interfering with Pinnacle’s Agreement with
Lochnert and Ayres, including the terms, conditions and requirements of the
Agreement, the length of the Agreement, and the fact that Loehnert and Ayres were
not to engage in any other insurance or surety business, or any business competitive
to that of Pinnacle, while employed by Pinnacle;

g. Conspiring and aiding and abetting each other, and Loehnert and Ayres, in their
improper conduct;

h. Assuming a direct and material adverse position against Pinnacle, including sending
the May 23, 2014 demand letter and subsequent correspondence;

i.  Not obtaining the necessary informed consent waiver from Pinnacle at any time
during their representation of Pinnacle, nor sending any correspondence indicating
that their legal representation of Pinnacle had ceased;

j. Proceeding in their representation of Loehnert and Ayres against Pinnacle despite
their concurrent conflict of interest in continuing to represent Pinnacle in the Wells
Litigation, and eventually their former client obligations owed to Pinnacle;

k. Filing Jefferson Circuit Court Case No. 14-CI-03017 against Pinnacle, and forcing it
to expend substantial sums of money in defense of the suit;

. Forcing Pinnacle to file a Motion for Disqualification in the United States District
Court Case No. 3:14-CV-425-H, and expend substantial sums of money to
disqualify Defendants;

m. Forcing Pinnacle to file this action against Defendants; and

n. Failing to recognize and resolve the conflict of interest inherent in Defendants’

12
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representation of Loehnert and Ayres against Pinnacle, accepting representation of
Lochnert and Ayres against Pinnacle, and continuing to represent Loehnert and
Ayres against Pinnacle despite the inherent conflict and their fiduciary duties owed
to Pinnacle.

45,  All of these adverse actions against Pinnacle occurred without disclosure to
Pinnacle by Defendants, or without full and proper disclosure to Pinnacle by Defendants, while
Defendants represented Pinnacle’s legal interests and owed it the highest fiduciary duties, at
Defendants’ direction and with their knowledge, and while Loehnert and Ayres were still
employed by Pinnacle or owed contractual, fiduciary and other legal duties to Pinnacle.

46.  As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ acts and omissions, as alleged
herein, Pinnacle has incurred significant economic injury, detriment and damage, all in an
amount to be proven at the time of trial, and Defendants are jointly and severally liable for same.

47.  The foregoing conduct by Defendants, and each of them, was willful, oppressive,
fraudulent, malicious, or with a conscious disregard for Pinnacle’s rights, therefore justifying a
substantial award of punitive damages representing a multiple of Pinnacle’s damages.

COUNT 1I
BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTY — ALL DEFENDANTS

48.  Pinnacle restates and incorporates herein by reference each and every allegation
contained in the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.

49, Defendants owed to Pinnacle undivided duties of reasonable care, utmost
integrity, fidelity, good faith, allegiance, trust, loyalty, and to act, at all times, in the best interests
of and to the benefit of Pinnacle with full and informed disclosure, and not to acquire or take on
interests in conflict or in competition with Pinnacle.

50. As fully set forth in the facts section above, the acts and omissions of Defendants,

13
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and each of them, constituting breach of fiduciary duty, include, but are not limited to, the
following:

a. Owing fiduciary and other duties to Pinnacle as its counsel, while at the same time
acting directly and materially adverse to Pinnacle;

b. Planting the seed, planning, directing, encouraging and counseling Loehnert and
Ayres to breach the Agreement with Pinnacle, which they did;

c. Assisting, directing, engaging, preparing, encouraging, planning, facilitating,
implementing, aiding, and having knowledge of Loehnert and Ayres prematurely
proposing a separation from Pinnacle, breaching the Agreement and their fiduciary
duties owed to Pinnacle, starting a competing surety company against Pinnacle, and
prematurely resigning from Pinnacle;

d. Preparing for, forming, organizing, starting and even acting as the registered agent
for a competing surety company against Pinnacle, L.A. Surety;

e. Concealing and failing to disclose to Pinnacle their actions and own improper
conduct, as well as Loehnert and Ayres’ actions and improper conduct;

f.  Having knowledge of and improperly interfering with Pinnacle’s Agreement with
Lochnert and Ayres, including the terms, conditions and requirements of the
Agreement, the length of the Agreement, and the fact that Loehnert and Ayres were
not to engage in any other insurance or surety business, or any business competitive
to that of Pinnacle, while employed by Pinnacle;

g. Conspiring and aiding and abetting each other, and Loehnert and Ayres, in their
improper conduct;

h. Assuming a direct and material adverse position against Pinnacle, including sending

14
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the May 23, 2014 demand letter and subsequent correspondence;

i.  Not obtaining the necessary informed consent waiver from Pinnacle at any time
during their representation of Pinnacle, nor sending any correspondence indicating
that their legal representation of Pinnacle had ceased;

j.  Proceeding in their representation of Loehnert and Ayres against Pinnacle despite
their concurrent conflict of interest in continuing to represent Pinnacle in the Wells
Litigation, and eventually their former client obligations owed to Pinnacle;

k. Filing Jefferson Circuit Court Case No. 14-CI-03017 against Pinnacle, and forcing it
to expend substantial sums of money in defense of the suit;

. Forcing Pinnacle to file a Motion for Disqualification in the United States District
Court Case No. 3:14-CV-425-H, and expend substantial sums of money to
disqualify Defendants;

m. Forcing Pinnacle to file this action against Defendants; and

n. Failing to recognize and resolve the conflict of interest inherent in Defendants’
representation of Loehnert and Ayres against Pinnacle, accepting representation of
Loehnert and Ayres against Pinnacle, and continuing to represent Loehnert and
Ayres against Pinnacle despite the inherent conflict and their fiduciary duties owed
to Pinnacle.

51.  All of these adverse actions against Pinnacle occurred without disclosure to
Pinnacle by Defendants, or without full and proper disclosure to Pinnacle by Defendants, while
Defendants represented Pinnacle’s legal interests and owed it the highest fiduciary duties, at
Defendants’ direction and with their knowledge, and while Loehnert and Ayres were still

employed by Pinnacle or owed contractual, fiduciary and other legal duties to Pinnacle.
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52.  As a direct and proximate result of the Defendants’ acts and omissions, as alleged
herein, Pinnacle has incurred significant economic injury, detriment and damage in an amount to
be proven at trial, and Defendants are jointly and severally liable for same.

53. The foregoing conduct by Defendants, and each of them, was willful, oppressive,
fraudulent, malicious, or with a conscious disregard for Pinnacle’s rights, therefore justifying a
substantial award of punitive damages representing a multiple of Pinnacle’s damages.

COUNT III
FRAUDULENT CONCEALMENT/DECEIT — ALL DEFENDANTS

54.  Pinnacle restates and incorporates herein by reference each and every allegation

contained in the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.
55.  Despite having a duty to disclose to Pinnacle, Defendants knowingly, or with
reckless disregard of the true facts, concealed, failed to disclose, or omitted facts from Pinnacle.
56. As fully set forth in the facts section above, the acts and omissions of Defendants,
and each of them, constituting fraudulent concealment/deceit, include, but are not limited to, the

following:

a. Owing fiduciary and other duties to Pinnacle as its counsel, while at the same time
acting directly and materially adverse to Pinnacle;

b. Planting the seed, planning, directing, encouraging and counseling Loehnert and
Ayres to breach the Agreement with Pinnacle, which they did;

c. Assisting, directing, engaging, preparing, encouraging, planning, facilitating,
implementing, aiding, and having knowledge of Loehnert and Ayres prematurely
proposing a separation from Pinnacle, breaching the Agreement and their fiduciary

duties owed to Pinnacle, starting a competing surety company against Pinnacle, and
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prematurely resigning from Pinnacle;

d. Preparing for, forming, organizing, starting and even acting as the registered agent
for a competing surety company against Pinnacle, L.A. Surety;

e. Concealing and failing to disclose to Pinnacle their actions and own improper
conduct, as well as Loehnert and Ayres’ actions and improper conduct;

f.  Having knowledge of and improperly interfering with Pinnacle’s Agreement with
Loehnert and Ayres, including the terms, conditions and requirements of the
Agreement, the length of the Agreement, and the fact that Loehnert and Ayres were
not to engage in any other insurance or surety business, or any business competitive
to that of Pinnacle, while employed by Pinnacle;

g. Conspiring and aiding and abetting each other, and Loehnert and Ayres, in their
improper conduct;

h. Assuming a direct and material adverse position against Pinnacle, including sending
the May 23, 2014 demand letter and subsequent correspondence;

i.  Not obtaining the necessary informed consent waiver from Pinnacle at any time
during their representation of Pinnacle, nor sending any correspondence indicating
that their legal representation of Pinnacle had ceased;

j.  Proceeding in their representation of Loehnert and Ayres against Pinnacle despite
their concurrent conflict of interest in continuing to represent Pinnacle in the Wells
Litigation, and eventually their former client obligations owed to Pinnacle;

k. Filing Jefferson Circuit Court Case No. 14-CI-03017 against Pinnacle, and forcing it
to expend substantial sums of money in defense of the suit;

1. Forcing Pinnacle to file a Motion for Disqualification in the United States District
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Court Case No. 3:14-CV-425-H, and expend substantial sums of money to
disqualify Defendants;

m. Forcing Pinnacle to file this action against Defendants; and

n. Failing to recognize and resolve the conflict of interest inherent in Defendants’

representation of Loehnert and Ayres against Pinnacle, accepting representation of
Lochnert and Ayres against Pinnacle, and continuing to represent Loehnert and
Ayres against Pinnacle despite the inherent conflict and their fiduciary duties owed
to Pinnacle.

57.  All of these adverse actions against Pinnacle occurred without disclosure to
Pinnacle by Defendants, or without full and proper disclosure to Pinnacle by Defendants, while
Defendants represented Pinnacle’s legal interests and owed it the highest fiduciary duties, at
Defendants’ direction and with their knowledge, and while Loehnert and Ayres were still
employed by Pinnacle or owed contractual, fiduciary and other legal duties to Pinnacle.

58.  Defendants made the aforementioned material acts and omissions in an effort to
conceal their own improper conduct from Pinnacle, and to conceal Loehnert and Ayres’
improper conduct from Pinnacle.

59.  Pinnacle relied to its detriment on Defendants not breaching their obligations to
Pinnacle, not acting directly and materially adverse to Pinnacle and against Pinnacle’s interests,
not harming Pinnacle, and not concealing, failing to disclose and omitting material facts from
Pinnacle, as set forth in the aforementioned acts and omissions.

60.  As a direct and proximate result of the Defendants’ acts and omissions, as alleged
herein, Pinnacle has incurred significant economic injury, detriment and damage in an amount to

be proven at trial, and Defendants are jointly and severally liable for same.

18




Case 3:15-cv-00364-DJH Document 51-1 Filed 06/20/16 Page 19 of 24 PagelD #: 254

61.  The foregoing conduct by Defendants, and each of them, was willful, oppressive,
fraudulent, malicious, or with a conscious disregard for Pinnacle’s rights, therefore justifying a
substantial award of punitive damages representing a multiple of Pinnacle’s damages.

COUNT IV

INTENTIONAL INTERFERENCE WITH CONTRACTUAL
RELATIONSHIP — ALL DEFENDANTS

62.  Pinnacle restates and incorporates herein by reference each and every allegation
contained in the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.

63. Defendants were aware of the Agreement, its terms, conditions and requirements,
the business relationship Loehnert and Ayres had with Pinnacle and the duties Lochnert and
Ayres owed to Pinnacle.

64.  Despite that, Defendants intentionally, improperly or maliciously interfered with
the Agreement while Loehnert and Ayres were still subject to the Agreement with Pinnacle and
still owed duties to Pinnacle.

65. As fully set forth in the facts section above, the acts and omissions of Defendants,
and each of them, constituting intentional interference with a contractual relationship, include,
but are not limited to, the following:

a. Owing fiduciary and other duties to Pinnacle as its counsel, while at the same time

acting directly and materially adverse to Pinnacle;

b. Planting the seed, planning, directing, encouraging and counseling Loehnert and

Ayres to breach the Agreement with Pinnacle, which they did;

c. Assisting, directing, engaging, preparing, encouraging, planning, facilitating,

implementing, aiding, and having knowledge of Loehnert and Ayres prematurely

proposing a separation from Pinnacle, breaching the Agreement and their fiduciary
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duties owed to Pinnacle, starting a competing surety company against Pinnacle, and
prematurely resigning from Pinnacle;

d. Preparing for, forming, organizing, starting and even acting as the registered agent
for a competing surety company against Pinnacle, L.A. Surety;

e. Concealing and failing to disclose to Pinnacle their actions and own improper
conduct, as well as Loehnert and Ayres’ actions and improper conduct;

f.  Having knowledge of and improperly interfering with Pinnacle’s Agreement with
Loehnert and Ayres, including the terms, conditions and requirements of the
Agreement, the length of the Agreement, and the fact that Loehnert and Ayres were
not to engage in any other insurance or surety business, or any business competitive
to that of Pinnacle, while employed by Pinnacle;

g. Conspiring and aiding and abetting each other, and Loehnert and Ayres, in their
improper conduct;

h. Assuming a direct and material adverse position against Pinnacle, including sending
the May 23, 2014 demand letter and subsequent correspondence;

i.  Not obtaining the necessary informed consent waiver from Pinnacle at any time
during their representation of Pinnacle, nor sending any correspondence indicating
that their legal representation of Pinnacle had ceased;

j.  Proceeding in their representation of Loehnert and Ayres against Pinnacle despite
their concurrent conflict of interest in continuing to represent Pinnacle in the Wells
Litigation, and eventually their former client obligations owed to Pinnacle;

k. Filing Jefferson Circuit Court Case No. 14-CI-03017 against Pinnacle, and forcing it

to expend substantial sums of money in defense of the suit;
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. Forcing Pinnacle to file a Motion for Disqualification in the United States District
Court Case No. 3:14-CV-425-H, and expend substantial sums of money to
disqualify Defendants;

m. Forcing Pinnacle to file this action against Defendants; and

n. Failing to recognize and resolve the conflict of interest inherent in Defendants’

representation of Loehnert and Ayres against Pinnacle, accepting representation of
Lochnert and Ayres against Pinnacle, and continuing to represent Loehnert and
Ayres against Pinnacle despite the inherent conflict and their fiduciary duties owed
to Pinnacle.

66.  All of these adverse actions against Pinnacle occurred without disclosure to
Pinnacle by Defendants, or without full and proper disclosure to Pinnacle by Defendants, while
Defendants represented Pinnacle’s legal interests and owed it the highest fiduciary duties, at
Defendants’ direction and with their knowledge, and while Loehnert and Ayres were still
employed by Pinnacle or owed contractual, fiduciary and other legal duties to Pinnacle.

67.  As adirect and proximate result of the Defendants’ acts and omissions, as alleged
herein, Pinnacle has incurred significant economic detriment and damage in an amount to be
proven at trial, and Defendants are jointly and severally liable for same.

68.  The foregoing conduct by Defendants, and each of them, was willful, oppressive,
fraudulent, malicious, or with a conscious disregard for Pinnacle’s rights, therefore justifying a
substantial award of punitive damages representing a multiple of Pinnacle’s damages.

COUNT V
CIVIL CONSPIRACY — ALL DEFENDANTS

69.  Pinnacle restates and incorporates herein by reference each and every allegation

contained in the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.
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70. By engaging, assisting or encouraging, as set forth in detail above, fraudulent
concealment/deceit, breach of fiduciary duty, legal malpractice/negligence and intentional
interference with a contractual relationship, Defendants made an unlawful combination or
agreement between themselves, as well as and Loehnert and Ayres, to engage in, substantially
assist or encourage concerted action with a common design, and engaged in tortious and
improper conduct in violation of Pinnacle’s rights, and Defendants are, therefore, jointly and
severally liable for the resulting tortious injury to Pinnacle.

71.  As adirect and proximate result of the Defendants” acts and omissions, as alleged
herein, Pinnacle has incurred significant economic injury, detriment and damage in an amount to

be proven at trial, and Defendants are jointly and severally liable for same.

72.  The foregoing conduct by Defendants, and each of them, was willful, oppressive,
fraudulent, malicious, or with a conscious disregard for Pinnacle’s rights, therefore justifying a
substantial award of punitive damages representing a multiple of Pinnacle’s damages.

COUNT VI

AIDING AND ABETTING THE BREACH OF
FIDUCIARY DUTY — ALL DEFENDANTS

73.  Pinnacle restates and incorporates herein by reference each and every allegation
contained in the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.

74. Defendants, and each of them, knew that Loehnert and Ayres owed fiduciary and
other duties to Pinnacle.

75.  Notwithstanding their knowledge of Loehnert’s and Ayres’ fiduciary and other
duties to Pinnacle, Defendants knowingly and substantially assisted and aided and abetted each
other, as well as Loehnert and Ayres, in planning, facilitating and implementing their improper

tortious conduct, including, as set forth above, fraudulent concealment/deceit, breach of fiduciary
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duty, legal malpractice/negligence, civil conspiracy and intentional interference with a
contractual relationship

76.  As a direct and proximate result of the Defendants’ acts and omissions, as alleged
herein, Pinnacle has incurred significant economic injury, detriment and damage in an amount to
be proven at trial, and Defendants are jointly and severally liable for same.

77. The foregoing conduct by Defendants, and each of them, was willful, oppressive,
fraudulent, malicious, or with a conscious disregard for Pinnacle’s rights, therefore justifying a
substantial award of punitive damages representing a multiple of Pinnacle’s damages.

COUNT VII
CONSTRUCTIVE TRUST/ACCOUNTING — ALL DEFENDANTS

78.  Pinnacle restates and incorporates herein by reference each and every allegation
contained in the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.

79.  As a consequence of the foregoing, Pinnacle is entitled to a full accounting and
constructive trust to be imposed against Defendants on all assets, profits, gains and advantages
derived from Defendants’® wrongful activities, as well as all damages sustained by Pinnacle as a
result thereof.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Pinnacle respectfully demands the following relief from Defendants,
Manion Stigger, Cooper Elliott, Stigger, and Elliott:

1. For judgment in favor of Pinnacle and against Defendants, jointly and severally;

2. For actual damages, including, but not limited to, lost business, profits, and
opportunities, business expenses and costs, loss of its office, loss of goodwill and great damage
to its business reputation within the business community, and consequential and incidental

damages in an amount to be proven at trial, together with pre-judgment and post-judgment
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interest at the maximum rate allowed by law;
3. For punitive damages against Defendants in an amount to be determined at trial;
4. For a constructive trust and full accounting from Defendants to Pinnacle on all

assets, profits, gains and advantages Defendants have derived from their wrongful activities;

5. For the costs, expenses and attorney fees of Pinnacle;
6. For a jury trial on all triable issues; and
7. For such other and further relief as the Court may deem proper and just, or which

Pinnacle may be entitled.
Respectfully submitted,

/s/ P. Blaine Grant

P. Blaine Grant

HAYDEN GRANT PLLC

214 South 8" Street, Suite 301
Louisville, Kentucky 40202
Phone: 502.638.2817

Fax: 502.849.0707

Email: Blaine@hayden-grant.com

COUNSEL FOR PLAINTIFF
PINNACLE SURETY SERVICES, INC.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
WESTERN DISTRICT OF KENTUCKY
LOUISVILLE DIVISION

PINNACLE SURETY SERVICES, INC.
Plaintiff,

v. CIVIL ACTION NO. 3:14-CV-425-JHM
TODD P. LOEHNERT
-and-
JOHN B. AYRES
-and-
L.A. SURETY SOLUTIONS LLC
SERVE: George Bruce Stigger

2301 River Road

Suite 101

Louisville, Kentucky 40206

Defendants.

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

VERIFIED FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT

Plaintiff, Pinnacle Surety Services, Inc. (“Pinnacle”), by and through counsel, for its
Verified First Amended Complaint against Defendants, Todd P. Loehnert (“Loehnert”), John B.
Ayres (“Ayres”) and L.A. Surety Solutions LLC (“L.A. Surety”) (collectively, “Defendants”),
states as follows:

PARTIES
1. Pinnacle is a for profit corporation organized and existing under the laws of the
State of California, with its principal office at 151 Kalmus Drive A-201, Costa Mesa, California

92626.

#4632

ExHIBIT 1
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2. Loechnert is an individual residing at 3926 Druid Hills Road, Louisville, Kentucky
40207.

3. Ayres is an individual residing at 9216 Felsmere Circle, Louisville, Kentucky
40241.

4, L.A. Surety is a Kentucky limited liability company whose registered agent is
George Bruce Stigger located at 2301 River Road, Suite 101, Louisville, Kentucky 40206.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

5. This Court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1332, in that it
is a civil action between citizens of different states in which the amount in controversy exceeds
$75,000.00, exclusive of interest and costs.

6. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants as they reside in Kentucky.

7. Venue of this action lies in the United Staes District Court for the Western District
of Kentucky pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(a)(2), in that the substantial majority of events, acts
and/or omissions giving rise to the claims set forth herein occurred in Jefferson County,
Kentucky, which lies within the Western District of Kentucky.

NATURE OF THE CASE

8. This is a civil action seeking damages as a result of the breach of an Employment
Agreement which exists between Pinnacle, Loehnert and Ayres, fraudulent concealment/deceit,
breach of fiduciary duty and other related and independent claims.

FACTS GIVING RISE TO THE CLAIMS

A. Pinnacle Employs Loehnert and Ayres.
9. Pinnacle is in the surety bond business, and devoted considerable resources and

risk in 2013 in opening a Louisville, Kentucky office to be referred to as Pinnacle of Kentucky.




Case 3:15-cv-00364-DJH Document 51-2 _Filed 06/20/16  Page 3 of 65 P :
Case S o S T Ie 2953085 TBIs R e % %

10.  In furtherance of that plan, on or about April 13, 2013, the parties entered into an
Employment Agreement in which Pinnacle employed Loehnert and Ayres to work in its Kentucky
office and grow its Kentucky business. The Employment Agreement is attached as Exhibit A.

11.  On or about December 9, 2013, after realizing that, due to a printing error, the
Employment Agreement failed to include certain language that had been agreed between the
parties, the parties entered into a Reformation of Employment Agreement (“Reformation”), which
is attached at Exhibit B.

12.  As expressly agreed between the parties, the Reformation reflected the intention of
the parties as of April 13, 2013, the date of the Employment Agreement, and was not meant to
reflect new terms. Id. at § D.

13.  The Employment Agreement and Reformation are referred to collectively as the
“Employment Agreement”.

14, In accordance with the Employment Agreement, and given their years of
experience in the surety bond business, Loehnert was named the Managing Director of the
Kentucky office, and Ayres was named the Executive Vice President of the Kentucky office. See
attached Exhibit A, at ] 2 and 4.

15.  Given their positions at, and relationships with, Pinnacle, they both owed and owe
fiduciary duties to Pinnacle, including undivided duties of reasonable care, utmost integrity,
fidelity, good faith, allegiance, trust, loyalty, and to act, at all times, in the best interests of and to
the benefit of Pinnacle with full and informed disclosure, and not to ac‘quire interests in conflict or
competition with Pinnacle.

16.  The parties agreed that Lochnert and Ayres’ employment with Pinnacle would

begin on April 13, 2013, and would last for a minimum of three years. Id. at { 1.
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17.  Loehnert and Ayres had previously been employed at Wells Fargo and, soon
thereafter, on or about April 25, 2013, Wells Fargo initiated suit against Loehnert, Ayres and
Pinnacle regarding Pinnacle’s employment of Loehnert and Ayres (the “Wells Fargo matter”).

18.  Because significant resources and risk were devoted by Pinnacle to establishing the
Kentucky office, and Pinnacle would only receive appropriate return on its investment in the
Kentucky office if the office remained open and profitable for a period of time, the parties agreed
that Pinnacle would suffer significant injury and damage, the actual amount of which would be
extremely difficult to determine, if Lochnert and Ayres prematurely terminated their employment
with Pinnacle. See attached Exhibit B, at § 13. In addition to the above, significant resources
were also devoted by Pinnacle to addressing, and expended defending, the Wells Fargo matter.

19.  Specifically, Pinnacle devoted significant resources and risk as to the office lease,
information technology, office equipment and furniture, human resources, payroll, expenses,
Pinnacle employee and owner time and attention, addressing and defending the Wells Fargo
matter, and the like, totaling a minimum of $100,000. And at the time of the Employment
Agreement, the potential for lost profits if Loehnert and Ayres prematurely terminated their
employment with Pinnacle was conservatively estimated at $250,000 — $300,000 annually, or
$750,000 — $900,000 over the life of the Employment Agreement.

20.  And now given Loehnert and Ayres’ premature resignation, as set forth below,
these are, at a minimum, the actual damages Pinnacle has incurred and expects to incur, which
will exceed $250,000. In fact, in Loehnert and Ayres’ Response to Pinnacle’s Memorandum in
Support of its Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings to Recover the Contractually Agreed

$250,000 and its Attorney Fees, Expenses and Costs from Defendants [DN 45], Loehnert and
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Ayres judicially admitted that the lost annual profits to Pinnacle were at least $1,000,000 per year,
or at least $3,000,000 over the life of the Employment Agreement. Id. at 11— 12.

21.  Pinnacle is entitled to seek its actual damages given Defendants’ below improper
conduct which it does through this Complaint.

22.  Alternatively, and as expressly agreed by Loehnert and Ayres in the provision
entitled “Reimbursement by Executives in the Event of Termination”, and given the factors

referenced above, including the Wells Fargo matter, if within three years of the date of the

Employment Agreement either Loehnert or Ayres resigned from Pinnacle, as ultimately done
here, Pinnacle would be entitled to obtain liquidated damages, in its sole discretion, of $125,000
from each for a total of $250,000. See attached Exhibit B, at § 13.

23.  Given the factors set forth above, this amount was in no way disproportionate to

the injury which would result to Pinnacle if Loehnert and Ayres resigned their employment early.
In fact, it is well less than Pinnacle’s actual damages.

B. Loehnert and Ayres Prematurely and Improperly Resign from Pinnacle.

24.  Unfortunately, and despite a very successful financial relationship between the
parties, Loehnert and Ayres made a proposal, on or about May 5, 2014, suggesting that Pinnacle
and Loehnert and Ayres separate their relationship outlined in the Erﬁployment Agreement, while
conceding their obligations of $250,000 to Pinnacle. This separation proposal was submitted by
Lochnert and Ayres after only one year of working under the Employment Agreement. See
attached Exhibit H.

25.  On May 15, 2014, Pinnacle respectfully declined Loehnert and Ayres’ separation
proposal, and instead chose to continue operating under the Employment Agreement. See attached

Exhibit 1.
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26. On May 23, 2014, Loehnert and Ayres’ counsel, who previously represented
Pinnacle and Loehnert and Ayres in the substantially related Wells Fargo matter and have since
been disqualified from representing Lochnert and Ayres in this matter, sent a demand letter
contending that Pinnacle purportedly owed Loehnert and Ayres some unspecified amount. See
attached Exhibit J. Pinnacle’s former legal counsel were disqualified by this Court because they,
on behalf of Loehnert and Ayres and while still representing Pinnacle’s interests, among other
improper acts, acted directly adverse to Pinnacle, sued Pinnacle, and even encouraged and
assisted Loehnert and Ayres to breach the Employment Agreement at issue here with Pinnacle
and prepare, form, organize and start a competing business directly against Pinnacle. Given this
conduct, Pinnacle filed a separate civil action (3:15-CV-364-DJH) against its former counsel
seeking damages as a result of their breaches of fiduciary duties, legal malpractice, and aiding and
abetting breaches of fiduciary duties.

27.  Regarding the demand letter, Pinnacle responded on or about May 26, 2014,
indicating that it was unaware of any outstanding amount owed to or on behalf of Loehnert and
Ayres, but was more than willing to consider any additional information/documentation to
support such an allegation. See attached Exhibit C.

28. In correspondence dated on or about May 27, 2014, May 28, 2014, May 29, 2014,
and May 30, 2014, the parties exchanged their calculations and Pinnacle explained that Loehnert
and Ayres were not entitled to any additional compensation given the advances to or on behalf of
Loehnert and Ayres, which total $179,906.40 ($100,000 on or about June 5, 2013 and $79,906.40
on or about March 15, 2014), and the fact that even if Loehnert and Ayres were due commissions,
which they were not given the advances, such commissions were not even owed in accordance

with the Employment Agreement. Pinnacle also explained that Loehnert and Ayres’ calculations
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were inaccurate because they were confused as to when commissions are actually earned per
paragraph 5.B. of the Employment Agreement, which first requires receipt by Pinnacle. Pinnacle
further explained that Loehnert and Ayres actually owed Pinnacle a sizeable reimbursement for
the advances. Pinnacle, however, again stated that it was willing to consider any additional
information/documentation to support Loehnert and Ayres’ contention that they were owed
money, offered to have a conference call to discuss the figures, the parties” Employment
Agreement and any questions Loehnert and Ayres may have regarding the amount they believe
they are owed, and reiterated that every effort was being made to be fair and reasonable, and that
Pinnacle had every intention of complying, and had and has in fact complied, with the parties’
Employment Agreement. In fact, Pinnacle even offered to allow Loehnert and Ayres’ CPA to
review Pinnacle’s calculations and explain how there is some alleged underpayment. See attached
Exhibit D.

29.  Pinnacle’s calculations at that time confirmed that Loehnert and Ayres, in fact,
owed Pinnacle at least $60,098, which actually was skewed in Loehnert and Ayres’ favor since it
assumed payment of commissions to Loehnert and Ayres of $119,074 which were not even owed
until after August 30, 2014, See attached Exhibit E.

30.  On May 30, 2014, rather than respond to Pinnacle’s calculations, explain their
position, or provide additional information/documentation supporting their allegations that they
were owed money, Loehnert and Ayres instead resigned from Pinnacle stating, with no
explanation, that Pinnacle had somehow breached the Employment Agreement. See attached
Exhibit F. Loehnert and Ayres also confirmed that at least one of them would continue their

employment obligations with Pinnacle up to and including June 9, 2014. Id.
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31.  Inresponse, Pinnacle sent correspondence dated on or about May 31, 2014, June 3,
2014, and June 4, 2014, accepting Loehnert and Ayres’ flawed resignation effective June 8, 2014,
but with no further obligation to Loehnert and Ayres per the Employment Agreement. Pinnacle
also again explained in detail that there was no breach by Pinnacle as set forth above, and no basis
for Loehnert and Ayres to resign with cause, so Pinnacle was at least entitled to the agreed
amount of $250,000 from Lochnert and Ayres for resigning prematurely. Pinnacle further
requested multiple times from Loehnert and Ayres proof of any breach, the identification of the
specific provision that purportedly was breached, any additional documentation and information
to support Loehnert and Ayres’ contention that they are owed money, and Pinnacle even offered
again to allow Loehnert and Ayres’ CPA to review Pinnacle’s calculations and explain how there
is some alleged underpayment. Yet, Pinnacle never received any proof of any breach or the
courtesy of a response to these issues. And Pinnacle again reiterated that every effort was being
made to be fair and reasonable, and that Pinnacle had every intention of complying, and has in
fact complied, with the parties’ Employment Agreement. Finally, Pinnacle noted that alleging
breach was simply a ploy by Loehnert and Ayres to try to avoid their at least $250,000 obligation
for resigning prematurely. See attached Exhibit G.

32.  Pinnacle received no response to this correspondence other than a vague and non-
specific reference to purported correspondence that somehow modified the Employment
Agreement. But since the Employment Agreement sets forth the entire agreement between the
parties and requires that any modification be in writing and signed by all parties to be effective,
such a position is baseless. See attached Exhibit A, at {f 16 — 18. The compensation Loehnert

and Ayres contend they are owed is not authorized by the Employment Agreement and there was
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no modification to the Employment Agreement as it had to be in writing and signed by all parties
to be effective.

33.  As further support that Pinnacle has made every effort to be fair and reasonable,
and that Pinnacle had every intention of complying, and has in fact complied, with the parties
Employment Agreement, on June 16, 2014, given Lochnert and Ayres’ resignation effective June
8, 2014, Pinnacle sent final payroll checks to Loehnert and Ayres through June 8, 2014, which
they strangely refused to accept and returned. Moreover, on July 2, 2014, in accordance and
compliance with paragraph 5.E. of the Employment Agreement entitled “Commissions on
Termination”, and based upon commissions paid and received by Pinnacle in June 2014 through
the resignation date, which exceeded the prior advances to Loehnert and Ayres, Pinnacle sent a
commission check made payable to Loehnert and Ayres totaling $7,694.00, which they again
refused to accept and returned. Erring in favor of Loehnert and Ayres, this amount likely
exceeded the final commission amount actually owed. The timing of this payment which, in
accordance with the Employment Agreement, would be due sometime after August 30, 2014, is
accelerated by paragraph 5.E. of the Employment Agreement, and was made given that the
substantial advances of $179,906.40 by Pinnacle to or on behalf of Loehnert and Ayres were only
then exhausted by the commissions paid and received by Pinnacle in June 2014 through the

resignation date. See attached Exhibit K.

C. The Improper Preparation, Forming and Starting of a Competing Business
Against Pinnacle.
34, Tellingly, Loehnert and Ayres failed to continue their employment at Pinnacle’s

Kentucky office through their obligated date of June 8, 2014, and instead improperly vacated the
premises well before that date and improperly prepared for, formed, and started, while employed

at Pinnacle, a competing business directly against Pinnacle called L.A. Surety.
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35.  Specifically, on or about April 24, 2014, even before proposing to separate with
Pinnacle, Loehnert and Ayres, with the assistance of Pinnacle’s counsel, organized L.A. Surety as
a new business, including obtaining a taxpayer identification number, which now directly
competes with Pinnacle. See attached Exhibit L. This information was filed with the Kentucky
Secretary of State on April 25, 2014. Id. This was clearly while Loehnert and Ayres were
employed by Pinnacle, in direct violation of their duties to Pinnacle, and without Pinnacle’s
knowledge or consent. This was also while Pinnacle’s counsel were still ethically obligated to
protect Pinnacle’s interests and while they faced a conflict of interest that has now been found to
disqualify them from representing Loehnert and Ayres against Pinnacle. Indeed, Pinnacle’s
counsel signed L.A. Surety’s Articles of Organization and are listed as a registered agent for L.A.
Surety, an entity directly competing against Pinnacle.

36.  Moreover, at least as early as May 16, 2014, the day after Pinnacle confirmed in
writing its choice to continue to dperate under the Employment Agreement and declined Loehnert
and Ayres’ separation proposal, Lochnert and Ayres, while still employed by Pinnacle and in
direct violation of their duties to Pinnacle, began reaching out to the insurance carriers Pinnacle
represented (without Pinnacle’s knowledge or consent) in order to secure and solidify their
relationship with these same carriers both before and after Loehnert and Ayres left Pinnacle and
started their own competing business. See attached Exhibit M. Loehnert and Ayres informed
these carriers that the Pinnacle name and contact information for Loehnert and Ayres would
change, but that everything else would remain the same. This way Lochnert and Ayres could
carry on Pinnacle’s business after they left Pinnacle, as smoothly as possible, and continue their

own profits at Pinnacle’s expense and detriment. In fact, Loehnert and Ayres’ counsel confirmed

10
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that 100% of the carriers Pinnacle served in Kentucky are now with Defendants. See attached
Exhibit N.

37. At that same time, on or about May 16, 2014, Pinnacle asked Loehnert and Ayres
what their intentions were moving forward, and they simply stated that they would continue to do
their jobs for Pinnacle, but failed to disclose to Pinnacle their multiple improper acts of preparing,
forming and starting a competing business against Pinnacle while still employed by Pinnacle and
in direct violation of their duties to Pinnacle. See attached Exhibit O.

38.  In addition, on or about May 31, 2014, again while still employed by Pinnacle and
in direct violation of their duties to Pinnacle, Loehnett and Ayres (without Pinnacle’s knowledge
or consent) sent an email to the insurance carriers Pinnacle represented and others announcing
that they had assumed 100% ownership of Pinnacle, and as a result changed the name to L.A.
Surety effective May 31, 2014, and were conducting business in competition with Pinnacle. See
attached Exhibit P. Loehnert and Ayres, however, had not acquired 100% ownership of Pinnacle,
their resignations, per the Employment Agreement, were not effective until June 8, 2014, and
Loehnert and Ayres even confirmed that at least one of them would continue their employment
obligations with Pinnacle up to and including June 9, 2014. See attached Exhibit F.

39, Also, on information and belief, Loehnert and Ayres, without Pinnacle’s
knowledge or consent, notified industry organizations, whose dues had been paid by Pinnacle at
Loehnert and Ayres’ direction, that a simple name change and/or acquisition had occurred and
that Defendants, rather than Pinnacle, should and did receive the benefits the industry
organizations provided going forward.

40. 1In addition to constituting the basis for numerous causes of action, including

fraudulent concealment/deceit and breach of fiduciary duty, the Employment Agreement

11
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specifically precluded such conduct. According to the Employment Agreement, “[d]uring
Executives employment with Pinnacle, Executives shall not engage in any other insurance or
surety related business, or any business competitive to that of Pinnacle, whatsoever, or directly or
indirectly render any service of a commercial or professional nature to any other person or
organization, whether for compensation or otherwise, without the prior written consent of
Pinnacle.” See attached Exhibit A, at {3.B.

41, L.A. Surety was aware of the Employment Agreement and the duties Loehnert and
Ayres owed to Pinnacle, and intentionally, improperly or maliciously interfered with same by
starting a competing business against Pinnacle and by hiring Loehnert and Ayres while they were
still subject to the Employment Agreement with Pinnacle and still owed duties to Pinnacle.
Moreover, Loehnert, Ayres and L.A. Surety improperly conspired with and aided and abetted
each other in the above improper conduct.

42.  Finally, Loehnert and Ayers never returned the iPads Pinnacle provided to them at
Pinnacle’s expense during their employment, and should do so immediately.

43. Al conditions precedent to bringing this action have been satisfied, and Pinnacle
reserves its right to amend this Complaint with additional factual allegations, causes of action and
requested relief.

CAUSES OF ACTION

COUNT I - BREACH OF CONTRACT ~ LOEHNERT AND AYRES

44.  Pinnacle restates and incorporates herein by reference each and every allegation
contained in the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.
45.  Loechnert and Ayres prematurely vacated the business and its premises, and

improperly prepared for, formed and started, while employed at Pinnacle, a competing business

12
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directly against Pinnacle, all in violation of the Employment Agreement, and are contractually
obligated to pay Pinnacle its actual damages.

46.  Alternatively, by prematurely resigning, Loehnert and Ayres became contractually
obligated to pay Pinnacle $125,000 a piece, for a total of $250,000, per the Employment
Agreement.

47.  Loehnert and Ayres have each failed to pay Pinnacle’s actual damages or make the
required payment under the terms of the Employment Agreement with Pinnacle, and are therefore
in breach of the Employment Agreement.

48.  In addition, Loehnert and Ayres have failed to return to Pinnacle property provided
to them by Pinnacle during their employment, and improperly utilized the benefit of industry
organizations paid for by Pinnacle.

49.  Pinnacle has been damaged as a direct and proximate result of said breaches in an
amount to be determined by the evidence.

COUNT X1 - BREACH OF IMPLIED DUTYOF GOOD
FAITH AND FAIR DEALING —~ LOEHNERT AND AYRES

50.  Pinnacle restates and incorporates herein by reference each and every allegation
contained in the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.

51. At all times, the business relationship between Pinnacle, Loehnert and Ayres
required that each party deal with the other in good faith, with honesty, and with due
consideration for the interests of the other.

59, The acts and omissions of Loehnert and Ayres, including those set forth above in
Count I, have been taken with disregard of the rights and interests of Pinnacle and with the intent
to escape and ignore Loehnert and Ayres’ responsibilities and obligations in accordance with the

parties’ business relationship and Employment Agreement.

13
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53.  Loehnert and Ayres’ acts and omissions constitute a breach of their implied duty of
good faith and fair dealing to the detriment of Pinnacle.
54.  As a direct and proximate result of Lochnert and Ayres’ breach, Pinnacle has
suffered monetary and other damages in an amount to be determined by the evidence.
COUNT HI — UNJUST ENRICHMENT/QUANTUM MERUIT/QUASI-

CONTRACT/CONTRACT IMPLIED IN FACT/CONTRACT IMPLIED
IN LAW/RESTITUTION — LOEHNERT AND AYRES

55. Pinnacle restates and incorporates herein by reference each and every allegation
contained in the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.

56.  Pleading strictly in the alternative, in addition to the above, and as set forth in
paragraphs 18 — 22, 36, 38 — 40 and 42, Loehnert and Ayres have been unjustly enriched to the
detriment of Pinnacle, for which Pinnacle is entitled to relief, including restitution.

57.  Lochnert and Ayres are in possession of property and/or money of Pinnacle, or are
otherwise using or have used property and/or money of Pinnacle which, in good conscience,
should immediately be returned or paid to Pinnacle.

58.  Pinnacle is therefore entitled’ to receive the property and/or compensation from
Loehnert and Ayres in an amount necessary to promote justice and to restore Pinnacle so that
there is not an unjust result and/or enrichment in favor of Loehnert and Ayres.

COUNT IV — MISAPPROPRIATION/CONVERSION — LOEHNERT AND AYRES

59.  Pinnacle restates and incorporates herein by reference each and every allegation
contained in the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.

60. In addition to the above, and as set forth in paragraphs 18 — 22, 36, 38 —40 and 42,
Lochnert and Ayres have received and improperly converted money and property from Pinnacle,

which Pinnacle is entitled.

14
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61. This constitutes an unlawful and improper conversion of Pinnacle’s valuable
monetary and property rights and is inconsistent, and in direct conflict with, the monetary and
propetty rights of Pinnacle.

62.  As a direct and proximate result of Loehnert and Ayres’s conversion of Pinnacle’s
monetary and property rights, Pinnacle has suffered, and will continue to suffer, financial harm
and monetary damages and Loehnert and Ayres are jointly and severally liable for same.

COUNT V — FRAUDULENT CONCEALMENT/DECEIT — LOEHNERT AND AYRES

63.  Pinnacle restates and incorporates herein by reference each and every allegation
contained in the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.

64.  As set forth above, Loehnert and Ayres knowingly, or with reckless disregard of
the true facts, concealed, failed to disclose, or omitted the fact that they improperly vacated the
Pinnacle premises well before their obligated final date of employment, and improperly prepared
for, formed, and started, all while employed by Pinnacle and while they owed duties to Pinnacle,
a competing business directly against Pinnacle.

65.  Specifically, Loehnert and Ayres concealed, failed to disclose and/or omitted the
facts set forth in paragraphs 34 —39.

66. Loehnert and Ayres made the aforementioned material omissions in an effort to
induce Pinnacle to continue to employ them, pay them and cover their expenses until they could
operate their competing business, and to profit at Pinnacle’s expense after they left Pinnacle.

67. Pinnacle relied to its detriment on the aforementioned concealed, undisclosed and
omitted facts.

68.  Pinnacle suffered and continues to suffer damages as a direct consequence of

Loehnert and Ayres’ improper conduct in an amount to be determined at trial, and Loehnert and

15




Case 3:15-cv-00364-DJH Document 51-2 _Filed 06/20/16 Page 16 of 65
Case 3-14-cv-00425-JHM-CHL Document 57 Filed 12/30/15 Page 16 of 20

FabelD ¥ 863

Ayres are jointly and severally liable for same.

COUNT VI — BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTY — LOEHNERT AND AYRES

69.  Pinnacle restates and incorporates herein by reference each and every allegation
contained in the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.

70.  The acts of Loehnert and Ayres in improperly vacating the Pinnacle premises well
before their obligated final date of employment, and improperly preparing for, forming and
starting a competing business directly against Pinnacle, while still employed by Pinnacle,
constitute a breach of their undivided fiduciary duties and duties of reasonable care, utmost
integrity, fidelity, good faith, allegiance, trust and loyalty to Pinnacle, and to act, at all times, in
the best interests of and to the benefit of Pinnacle with full and informed disclosure, and not to
acquire interests in conflict or competition with Pinnacle.

71. By reason of Loehnert and Ayres’ breach of their fiduciary duties and duties of
reasonable care, utmost integrity, fidelity, good faith, allegiance, trust and loyalty to Pinnacle, and
to act, at all times, in the best interests of and to the benefit of Pinnacle with full and informed
disclosure, and not to acquire interests in conflict or competition with Pinnacle, Pinnacle has
suffered damages in an amount to be determined at trial, and Loehnert and Ayres are jointly and
severally liable for same.

COQUNT VII - INTENTIONAL INTERFERENCE
WITH CONTRACTUAL RELATIONSHIP — L.A. SURETY

72.  Pinnacle restates and incorporates herein by reference each and every allegation
contained in the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.

73.  L.A. Surety was aware of the Employment Agreement and the business
relationship Lochnert and Ayres had with Pinnacle and the duties Loehnert and Ayres owed to

Pinnacle.
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74.  Despite that, L.A. Surety intentionally, improperly or maliciously interfered with
the Employment Agreement by starting a competing business against Pinnacle and hiring
Loehnert and Ayres to work for L.A. Surety while they were still subject to the Employment
Agreement with Pinnacle and still owed duties to Pinnacle.

75.  As a direct and proximate result of L.A. Surety’s conduct, Pinnacle is entitled to
recover from L.A. Surety its damages proximately caused by the interference with contractual
relations in an amount to be determined at trial.

COUNT VIII — CIVIL CONSPIRACY — ALL DEFENDANTS

76.  Pinnacle restates and incorporates herein by reference each and every allegation
contained in the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.

77. By improperly vacating the Pinnacle premises well before their obligated final date
of employment, by preparing for, forming and starting a competing business directly against
Pinnacle, all while Loehnert and Ayres were still employed by Pinnacle and owed duties to
Pinnacle, and by engaging, assisting or encouraging fraudulent concealment/deceit, breach of
fiduciary duty and intentional interference with a contractual relationship, Defendants made an
unlawful combination or agreement between them to engage in, substantially assist or encourage
concerted action with a common design, and engaged in tortious conduct in violation of
Pinnacle’s rights, and Defendants are, therefore, jointly and severally liable for the resulting
tortious injury to Pinnacle.

78.  As a proximate result of Defendants’ acts in furtherance of their civil conspiracy,
Pinnacle has suffered injury and damages in an amount to be determined at trial, and Defendants

are therefore jointly and severally liable for same.
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COUNT IX — AIDING AND ABETTING IMPROPER CONDUCT —~ ALL DEFENDANTS

79.  Pinnacle restates and incorporates herein by reference each and every allegation
contained in the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.

80.  Defendants aided and abetted each other in planning, facilitating and implementing
their improper tortious conduct of fraudulent concealment/deceit, breach of fiduciary duty and
intentional interference with a contractual relationship by Loechnert and Ayres improperly
vacating the Pinnacle premises well before their obligated final date of employment and by
Defendants preparing for, forming and starting a competing business directly against Pinnacle, all
while Loehnert and Ayres were still employed by Pinnacle and owed duties to Pinnacle.

81.  As a proximate result of Defendants’ actions to aid and abet each other’s tortious
conduct, Pinnacle has suffered injury and damages in an amount to be determined at trial, and
Defendants are jointly and severally liable for same.

COUNT X — CONSTRUCTIVE TRUST/ACCOUNTING — ALL DEFENDANTS

82.  Pinnacle restates and incorporates herein by reference each and every allegation
contained in the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.

83.  As a consequence of the foregoing, Pinnacle is entitled to a full accounting and
constructive trust to be imposed against Defendants on all assets, profits, gains and advantages
derived from Defendants’ wrongful activities, as well as all damages sustained by Pinnacle as a
result thereof.

COUNT XI — PUNITIVE DAMAGES — ALL DEFENDANTS

84.  Pinnacle restates and incorporates herein by reference each and every allegation

contained in the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.
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85. By reason of the Defendants’ inappropriate tortious conduct, as set forth above,
Pinnacle is entitled to recover punitive damages from the Defendants in an amount to be

determined at trial.

COUNT XII — DECLARATORY JUDGMENT AND RELIEF — ALL DEFENDANTS

86.  Pinnacle restates and incorporates herein by reference each and every allegation
contained in the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.

87.  Justiciable and actual controversies exist between Pinnacle and Defendants as
contemplated by Fed. R. Civ. P. 57 and 28 U.S.C. § 2201. In order to resolve these controversies,
Pinnacle requests that the Court declare the rights, duties, obligations and other legal relations
between the parties, and declare that Pinnacle is entitled to all relief for which it prays.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Pinnacle respectfully demands the following relief from Defendants,
Todd P. Loehnert, John B, Ayres and L.A. Surety:

A. For a judgment in favor of Pinnacle and against Defendants, jointly and severally;

B. For actual damages, including but not limited to, lost business opportunities,
business and profits, business expenses, loss of its office, loss of goodwill and great damage to
its business reputation within the business community, and consequential and incidental damages
in an amount to be determined at trial, together with pre-judgment and post-judgment interest at
the maximum rate allowed by law;

C. Alternatively, for liquidated damages in the amount of $250,000, in Pinnacle’s
sole discretion, together with pre-judgment and post-judgment interest at the maximum rate
allowed by law;

D. For the equitable relief requested,;
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E. For a constructive trust and full accounting from Defendants to Pinnacle on all

assets, profits, gains and advantages Defendants have derived from their wrongful activities;

F. For punitive damages against Defendants in an amount to be determined at trial;
G. For a Declaration from this Court of the respective rights, duties and obligations
of the parties;
H. For its costs and expenses expended herein, and its reasonable attorneys’ fees;
L. For a jury trial on all issues so triable; and
J. For any and all other relief to which Pinnacle may be entitled.
Respectfully submitted,

/s/ P. Blaine Grant

P. Blaine Grant

HAYDEN GRANT PLLC

718 West Main Street, Suite 202A
Louisville, Kentucky 40202
Phone: 502.638.2817

Fax: 502.849.0707

Email; Blaine@@hayden~-grant.com

COUNSEL FOR PLAINTIFF
PINNACLE SURETY SERVICES, INC.
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VERIFICATION

Eric Lowey, after being duly swomn, states that he is the President of Pinnacle Surety
Services, Inc., that he has read the foregoing Verified First Amended Complaint, and that the
fuctual statements set forth therein are true and correct to the best of his knowledge, information

and belief, and that he would and could testify under oath to such statements.

W

Eric Lowey
STATE OF CALIFORNIA )
)SS: 5@3_ 7"’(‘H’ aﬂf'L.Q.ch
COUNTY OF ORANGE )
" Subscribed and sworn to me by , this day of
2015.

My commission expires:

NOTARY PUBLIC, STATE AT LARGE

#4632
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A notary public or other officer completing this certificate verifics only the idestity of the individual who signed the
document fo which this certificate is aitached and not the truthfulness, accuracy, or validity of that document.

State of California )
County of Orange )
On 1171015 before me, Barbara Copeland , Notary Public,
personally appeared Eric Lowey
Name(s) of Signer(s)

who proved o me on the basis of satisfactory evidence to be the person(s) whose name(s) is/farc subscribed to the
within instrament and acknowledged to me that he/shefthey exccuted the same in his/her/heir authorized
capacity(ies), and that by his/her/their signature(s) on the instrament the person(s), or the entity upon behalf of
which the person(s) acted, exceuted the instrument.

I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the
laws of the State of California that the foregoing
paragraph is true and correct.

BARBARA COPELAND
Commission # 2016348

e Bk
SUEE SR Notary Publl - Gallorla £

u‘ﬁ/ Qrange County 3 WITNESS my hand and official seal.
My Gomn. Expires Apr 19, 2017 W

Signature:
Signaturc of N o!aé'}’uhlic

Place Notary Seal Above

- OPITONAL
Though the information below is not required by law, it ray prove valuable to persons relying on the document
and could present frandulent and reattachment of this form to another document.

Description of Attached Document

Type or Title of Document:

Document Date: ‘Number of Pages:

Signer(s) Other Than Named Above:

Capacity(ies) Claimed by Signer(s) . Capacity(ies) Claimed by Signer(s)
Signer’s Name: Erlc Lowey Signer’s Name:

Individual [1 Individual

[ Corporate Officer — Title(s); M Corporate Officer — Title(s):

{1 Partner: [ JLimited [ General [ Partner: [JLimited [ General
[T Attoney in Fact [ Attotney in Fact

[1 Trustee [ Trustes

[T} Guardian or Conservator [ Guardian or Conservator

[ Other: [ Other:

Signer Is Representing: Signer Is Representing:
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EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

THIS EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (“Agreement™) is made and enfered into to be
effective on the 13th day of April 2013, by and between Pinnacle Surety Services, Inc., on the
one hand, (“Pinnacle”) and Todd Loehnert and Brian Ayres ("Executives”), on the other hand.

WHEREAS, Pinnacle desires to retain in its employment the Executives who can help
grow Pinnacle's business in geographic regions not previously covered by Pinnacle’s business
and who possesses those qualities and the experience necessary ta fulfill Pinnacle’s long-term
objectives, and;

WHEREAS, Pinnacle plans to open an office in Kentucky, operating under the name
“Pinnacle of Kentucky,” which will conduct the surety bond business in the East Coast region;

WHEREAS, Pinnacle is planning to expend considerable resources on opening the
Kentucky office, including office lease, information technology, office equipment, human
resources, payroll cley

WHERBAS, Pinnacle bas determined that Ixecutives possess the qualities and
expericnce which will enable it to meet its goals with regard (o the Kentueky office, and that it is
advisable (o enter into this Employment Agreement with Executives.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and agreements contained
herein and other good and valuable consideration, receipt ol which is hereby acknowledged, it is
hereby agrecd by and between Pinnacle and Executives as [ollows:

1. Term of Employment, Pinnacle hereby employs Execulives and Executives

hereby accept employment with Pinnacle beginning on or before April 13th, 2013. Execulives’

employment will confinue unless Executives or Pinnacle terminate this Agreement, and

P425-001

ExuIsit A
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employment will continue unless Exceutives or Pinnacle terminate (his Agreemeut, and

Executives’ employment, as provided for herein, Excewtives and Pinnacle agree that after three

years of employment, and assuming that the parties have found the relationship to be mutually

beneficial, the parties will meet to discuss a possible ownership interest by Executives in

Pinnacle, the form and terms to be agreed upon by the parties al that time,

2. General Duties and Qbligations. Todd Loehnert shall serve as the Managing

Director and Brian Ayres shall serve as Exceutive Vice President with the title of Sr, Partner, and
report directly to Todd Lochnert of Pinnacle of Kentucky, a dba of Pinnacle Surety Services. Inc.
In this capacity, Executives shall perform, as exempt employees, each and every duty prescribed
by Pinnacle and all services, acts, or things necessary or advisable to manape, direct and conduct
the business nnd aftairs of Pinnacle of Kentucky, subject at all times to the budget and policies
set by Pinnacle. Todd Loehnert shall manage all of the day-to-day functions of the Kentucky
office, including but not limited to hiring and supervising up to two support staff; and producing
and maintaining business. Exceulives shall conduet themselves at all times in accordance with
industry slnndurdé as lo professional practices, Executives employment shall be governed by the
policies and procedures established by Pinnacle from lime to time. Additionally, Exccutives
aprecs to be bound by the provisions of the Conlidentiality Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit
A nnd incorporated herein by this relerence,

3. Devotion to Pimacle’s Business,

A, Exccutives shall devote Exccutives’ entire productive lime, ability and

attention 1o the business of Pinnucle during the term of this Employment Agreement.
B. During Executives employment with Pinnacle, Fxccutives shall not
engage in any other insurance or surely related business, or uny business competitive to that of
2
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Pinnacle, whatsoever, or direetly or indirectly render any service of a connmercial or professional
nature lo any other person ov organization, whether for compensation or otherwise, without the
prior written consent of Pinnacle.  However, the expenditure of reasonable amounts of time for
educaiional, charitable, or professional activities shall not be deemed a breach of this Agreement,
and shall not require the prior written consent ol Pinnacle, if those activities do not materially
intecfere with (he services Execulives are required to render under this Agreement.

C. This Employment Agreement shall not be interpreted 1o prohibit
Executives Irom making passive personal investmeunts ov condueting private business affairs, if
those activities are not a conflicl of interest under applicable law or regulations, and as long as
such activitics do not materially interfere with the services Executives are required to render

under this Agreement.

4, Uniquencss of Executives' Services. Excecurives have many years of experience

devoied to the surely bond business.  Additionally, Excentives possess many years of
involvement in the National Association of Surety Bond Producers. These tnique qualifications

and experience provide valuable benefits to Pinnacle that cannot be readily replaced.

5. Annual Salary and Commigsion
A. Base Salary. As compensation for the services to be performed hereunder,

Todd Loehnert shall be paid a base salary at the annual rate of One Hundred Fifty ‘Thousand
Dollars ($150,000.00) and Brian Ayres shall be paid base salary at the annual rate of One
Hundred Thousand dollars ($100,000) {(“Base Salary™), payable not less olien than bi-monthly, as
adjusted according to the Commission Schedule deseribed below.

B. Conunission Schedule,  Commissions shall be applicd against the Base

Salary, with Executives receiving the greater of the Base Salary or the total Commission amount.

3
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Comnissions shall be carned by Executives upon veceipl by Pinnacle of the gross commissions

and/or Fees from Pimnacle's client,  Exceutives shall receive Commissions according to the

following schedule: The following caleulations are aggregate calculations and shall apply ta both
Exccutives, collectively.

1. Forty percent (40%) of the fivst $800,000.00 of Annual (based on a

calendar year) Gross Commissions and Fees, less $250,000.00, produced

by the Kentucky office and booked and actually received by Pinnacle, less

any adjustments;

N

Forty-five percent (45%) of the next $400,000.00 of Annual Gross
Commissions and Fees produced by the Kentucky office and booked and
actually teceived by Pinnacle, less any adjustments;

3. Fifty percent (50%) of the next $400,000.00 ol Annual Gross
Commissions and Fees produced by the Kentueky office and booked and
actually received by Pinnacle, less any adjustments;

i, Fifty-five porcent (55%) of Annual Grogs Commissions and  Fees
exceeding $1,600,000.00 Gross Commissious produced by the Kentucky
olfice and booked und actually received by Pinnacle, lass any adjustments.

3. Example: By way of illustration only, the following is au example of the

Comumission payment structure:

Asswuning that in 2013, the Kentucky office gencrates $1,000,000 in Gross

Commissions and Fees, alier adjustiments.  The commission of $410,000

for that year due to Execulives is calculated as follows:

$800,000 X 40 (40%) = $320,000 and $200,000 X .45 (43%) = $90,000

4
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for a total of 410,000,

The split of apgregate commissions between Todd Loehoart and Brian
Ayers shall be decided by Todd Lochnart and Brian Ayers and mutually
agreed upon by cach party with Todd Lochnart having the [inal and
binding say. IF for some reason Todd Loehnart and Brian Ayres come w
an impasse oo this maller, Eric Lowey, President of Pinnacle Surety

Services, Inc., will make the decision, in his sole discrelion.

C. Conlingency  Commission. Executives  shall be paid Contingent

Comuissions based on the schedule set forth in Paragraph 5(B), above, other than with regard 1o
Contingent Commissions received as a result of Execulive Tadd Loehnart’s work as Traveler’s
Insurance Program Manager, which shall be paid on a seventy/thirty split schedule, with
Executive Todd Lochnart receiving sevenly percent (70%) and Pinnacle receiving thirty percent
(30%) of such Contingent Comimissions.

D. Commission Payment. On or aller August 30 of each year, Fixccutives

may request, and, by the following September 13, Pimnacle shall pay, seventy percent (70%) ol
all Commissions Executives have ewned Lo that date, less amounts paid in Base Salary for the
months For whiclh Commission is paid. On or before January 15 of each year, beginning on
January 15, 2014, Pinnacle shall pay Exccutive ninety percent (90%) of all Commissions
Executive earned in the preceding calendar year, less Commissions previously paid and less Base

Salary not yet deducted. On or before April 15 of each year, beginning on April 15, 2014, the

remaining balance ol Commissions due to Exceutives shall be paid.

5
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E. Commissions on Termination. In the cvent of an Executive’s termination

of employment, Executive shall receive Commissions on Gross Commissions and Fees actually
hooked and received as of the date of Executive’s lermination, nccording to the schedule set forth
in Paragraph 5(B) above. The Commissions due shall be paid as soon as practical, but in no
evenl later than thirty days ofExecutive"s termination.

6. Car Allowance, Each Executive shall receive a car allowance ol $600.00 per

month during the term ol this Agreement. Executive's car allowance is designed to reimburse
Execcutives for all coats associated with the use of their personal vehicles on Pinnacle-related
I%usincss. As such, Pinnacle shall not separately reimburse Exccutives for any automobile-velaled
expenses, such as insurance, repairs, tolls, parking, mileage or gasoline. Each Execulive aprees
to maintain liability insurance on any vehicle he drives on Pinnacle-related business, and further
agrees to ndd Pinnacle ns an additional insured party on the vehicle insurance policy,

7. Vacation. Each Excewtive shall acerue four weeks of vacation per year begimming
as of the effective dale of this Agreement, nol w exceed lour vacation weeks per year,

8. Membership in Profegsional Associations, 1L is in Pinnacle's best interests for

Executives to maintain membership in varions professional associations. Pinnacle shall pay the
costs of Executives’ approved memberships and shall pay the cosls in attending local, state,
national and international meetings of such professional groups., I Executives receive a stipend
from any professional association, that stipend shall be uscd to offset the costs and expenses
associated with Exeeulives’ membership, that Pinnacle would otherwise reimburse.

0. Business Expenses. During the Term ol this Agreement, Pinnacle shall promptly

yeimburse Executives for reasonable business expenditures made and substantiated in accordunce

with policies, practices and procedures established from time to time by Pinnacle with respect to

6
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senior employees. Exceutives’ business expenditures shall be reviewed by the President of
Pinnacle Surety Services, Inc. The cost for Executives’ Business Expenses and Protessional
Association Memberships, as deseribed in Paragraph 8 above, shall not exceed $30,000.00

annually, unless approved in writing by the President ol Pinnacle. In addition to the above

expenses, Pinnacle shall pay Exceutive Todd Lochnar’s golf membership at Big Springs Country

Club in the amount of $425.00 per month.

10. Other Employee Benefits. Executives shall receive five days of paid sick leave

annually, to be used in accordance with Pinnacle's sick pay policy provided for in Pinnacle
employee manual. Additionally, Pinnacle shall provide Executives with all other benefits to the
smne extent as is provided to management employees, as set forth in Pinnacle’s employee

manual, including, but not limited to, 401K participation, and health and dental benefits.

11, Tax Withholding. Pinnacle shall have the abligation to deduct or withhold from

the compensation due to Executives hereunder any and all sums required for federal income and
other payroll taxes and all stute or focal taxes now applicable or that may be enacled and become
applicable in the future,

12,

Termination of Employiment,

A, Pinnacle may immediately terminate an Executive’s employment under

this Agreement for Cause,
B. For purpose of this Apreement, “Cause™ shall mean any of the Tollowing,
as determined by Pinnacle:
i Execulive's dishonesly or conviction of eriminal conduct;
2, Failure of the Executive to observe oy perform any of his duties, if

that failure conlinues for a period of thirty days from Pinnacle’s

7
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notice to Bxecutive specifying the acts or omissions deemed to

amount 1o that failure; or

3. Gross negligence in the performance of his duties under this
Agreement.
C. Pinnacle may lerminale an Executive’s employment under this Agreciment

for any reason other than Cause upon thirly (30) days writicn notice to Executive(s).

D, An Execcutive may vesign his cmployment obligations under this
Agreement by giving Pinnacle ten (10) days prior written nolice. Upon receipt of 10 days written
notice, Pinnacle shall have the option of retaining Executive in active employment for all or any
of that thinty-day period, or accepting his resignation from employment al any time within the ten
day period. Lf Pinnacle should decide to retain Excentive(s) for less than the ten duy period, it
may do so with no further obligation fo Ixecutive(s).

13, Reimbursement by Executives in the Bvent of Termination, Dxeculives recognize

that Pinnucle is expending signilicant resources on establishing the Kenlucky office, wnd that
those resources are heing expended based on Iixecutive’s prowmises and representations with
regard to their expertise in the industry and their devotion to Pinnacle’s business.  [ixeculives
further recognizes that Pinnacle will only receive appropriate return on its investment in the
Kentucky office if the office remains open and profible for a period of time, and that
Executive(s’) termination of employment from Pinnacle will cause Pinnacle o incur injury and
damage, the actual amount of which would be extremely difficult to determine.  Therefore, il
within three years of the date of this Agreement, cither Executive’s employment is terminated by
Pinnacle for cause or il either Executive resigns, without cause, (“cause™ is defined for purposes

of this paragraph as breach by Pinnacle of the provisions of this Employment Agreement, or

B
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14, Representaiions, Warranties and Indenmily by Executives.

Executives represents and warrants to Pinnacle that the execulion of this Agreement and
the performance by Executives ol their obligations under this Agreement will not: (a) vinlate any
judgment, writ injunction, or order of any court, arbitrator, or governmental agency applicable to
Executives: or (b) conflict with, result in the breach of any provisions of, or the termination of, or
constitute a default under, any agreement {o which Exccutives are a party or by which Exccutives
are or may be bound. Executives further represent and warrant that the performance of their
obligations under this Agreement will not tequire them to use any confidential, proprictary or
trade secrel information of any prior employer, and that they are not in possession of any such
information. Executives agree to indemnify and hold Pinnacle harmless [rom any and all
expenses (including altomey’s fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement, actually
and veasonably incurred by Pinnacle in connection with any threatened, pending or completed
action, elaim, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative to which
Pinnacle is a party, or is threatened (o be a party, by reason of the act(s) or omission(s) of
Exeeutives before April 13th, 2013 or Exceutive’s breach of their representations made in this
Agreemeni. Executives have no obligation to indemnify or hold Pinnacle harmless for the acl(s)
or omission(s) of Pinnacle. Should Pimnacle become aware of such shuation whereby this
indemnification may be invoked, Pinnacle shall notify Executives in wriling of the situation and
provide Execufives with a reasonable opportunity lo resolve same before Pinnacle starts
incurring indemnifiable costs and expenses, Exeeutives will “take the lead” and assume the
defense of Pinnacle in any litigation naming Pinnacle (and pay the costs to defend Pinnacle,

including attorney fees) until such time as a conflict in inferest ariscs between Executives and

9
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including attorney fees) until such lime as a conflict in interest arises between Executives and
Pinnacle or Pinnacle reasomable belicves Exceuwtives are not adequately representing  their
interests in the litigation.

15. Notices. Any notices to be given hereunder by either party to the other shall be in
writing and may be transmitted by personal delivery or by mail, registered ov certified, postage
prepaid, with return receipt reguested. Mailed notices shall be addressed to the parties at the
addresses maintained in the personnel records of Pinnacle, but each party may change that
address by written notice in nccordance with this section. Notices delivered personally shall be

deemed communicated as of the dawe of actual receipy mailed notices shall be deeomed

communicated as of the date of mailing.

16. Entire Agreement. This Agrcement supersedes any and all other agreoments,

either oral or in writing, between the parties hereto with respect to the emplaoyment of Executives
by Pinnacle and contains all of the covenants and agreements between the partics with respeet to
that cmployment.  Lach paryy (o this Agreement acknowledges that no representation,
inducement, promise, or agreement, oral or otherwise, has been made by any parly, or anyone
acting on behalf of any parly, which is not embodicd herein, sod that no other agreement,
stalement or promise nol contained in this Agreement shall be valid or binding on either party.

17.  Modifications. Any modifications of this Agreement will be effective only ifina

writing and signed by the parties.

18.  Effect of Waiver. The Tailure of either party to insist on strict compliance with

any of the ferms, covenants, or vonditions of this Agreement by the other party shall not bhe

deemed a waiver of that term, covenant or condition, nor shall any waiver or relinquishment of

10
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any right or power at any one time or limes be deemed a waiver or relingquishment of that right
ar power for all or any other limes,

19.  Partial Invalidity. If any provision in this Agreement is held by a court of
competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void or unenforceable, the remaining provisions shall
nevertheless continue in fulf force without being impaired or invalidated in any way.

20. Govering lLaw. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in

accordance with the laws of the State of Kentucky. in force and effect as of the date of

execution.

TODD LOEHNERT

DATED:_ A -\A-1'5 By {00 Ve S

BRIAN AYRES

patip: l=V3- V5 T2 ﬂ R
By: \,-’\’9‘““‘“ 2

PINNACLE SURETY SERVICES,

INC. 7
Lo ///’/
DATED: Zé/ / /Z// g A o O W'/

Iis: mé——;{;

11
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REFORMATION OF EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

THIS REFORMATION OF EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (*Agreement”) is made
by and between Pinnacle Surety Services, Inc., on the one hand, (“Pinnacle”) and Todd Loehnert
and Brian Ayrcs (“Exccutives”), on the other land.

WHEREAS, Pimacle and Exceutives entered into an Employment Agrecment dated
April 13, 2013 (the “Agreement”) pursuant 10 which Executives began employment with
Pinnacle; and

WHEREAS, the Employment Agreement was revised several times before it was signed
by the partics; and

WHEREAS, Pinnacle and Executives have recently determined that, due to a printing
error, the final signed draft erroneously failed to include certain fanguage that had been apreed
upon by the parties; and

WHEREAS, Pinnacle and Execulives desire o clarify the language which should have
pbeen included in the Agreement;

THEREFORE, it is hereby agreed as follows:

A paragraph 13 of the Agreement is ns follows, in ity entirety:

13, Reimbursement by Executives i the Eyventof Termination, Exceulives recognize

that Pinnacle is expending significant resources on establishing the Kentucky office, and that
those resources are being expended based on Execulive’s promises and pepresentations with
regard (o their expertise in the industry and their devotion to Pinnacle’s business. Fxecutives
further recognizes that Pinnacle will only receive appropriate returhy on ils investment in the

Kentucky office it the office remuing open and profitable for a period of (ime. and that

P425-012
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Executive(s’) termination of employment from Pinnacle will cause Pinnacle to incur injury and

damage, the actual amount of which would be extremely difficult to determine. Therefore, if;

.
.

within three years ol the date of this Agreement, either Exeeutive's employment is terminaled by

pinnacle for cause or if cither Executive resigns, without cause, (“cause” is delined for purposes

of this paragraph as breach by Pinnacle of the provisions of this Employment Agreement, of

unethieal or criminal conduet by Pinnacle) Pinnacle, in its sole digeretion, may obtain $125.000,

as liquidated damages from the terminated or resigning executive.

B. The second line at the top of page 10 of the Agreement should read “Pinnacle

reasonably believes,” rather than *Pinnacle reasonable believes.”

C. The 3" line on page 7 should read $40,000 instead of $30,000,

D, The parties agree that this Reformation of Agreement reficets the intention of the

Parties as of April 13.20 13, the date the Bmployment Aprecment was signed, and is not meant o

reflect new {erms.

TODD LOEHNERT

PP B <

//'\'</;‘) //&/wfﬁ
DATED: { Z/ 7 L . By, - R
~

BRIAN AYRES

DATED:F__/»{/Z 7[_/_2,____ \ By;_[ S Mg

PINNACLLE SURETY SERVICES, INC.

//‘

- ,/
DATED: /¢ (ﬁ[f}_ R By:ﬁé;’/ﬁ: _g_*‘z’p/—f’;;__y/'

Ws: tes iz
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Blaine Grant

From: Blaine Grant

Sent: Monday, May 26, 2014 7:23 PM
To: Rex Elliott

Subjecti: Pinnacle

Rex - | am in the pracess of being retained by Pinnacle Surely Services, Inc. | understand you sent a letter to Pinnacle on

May 23,
2014 threatening legal action. Please be advised that | plan to respond to you after | have been retained, but i peed

some clarification first regarding your letter.

According to your letter, you contend your clients are owed additional compensation/wages, but you do not identify in
your letter the amount of or any specifics regarding the wages allegedly owed, or any support that certain wages have
not been pald. My client is unaware of any outstanding wages owed your clients in accordance with the parties’
Ernployment Agreement, but is more than willing to consider any additional information/documentation you have to
support your aliegations.

After 1 have been retained, and receive a response to the above, {look forward to addressing this with you.

Regards,

P, Blaine Grant

member

Hayden Grant PLLC

718 West Main Street, Suite 202A
Lauisville, Kenlucky 40202

Tel: 502-638-2817

Cell: 502-314-0488
hlaine@hayden-grant.com
www.hayden-grant.com

P425-014
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Rex - | understand that your clients contend that Pinnacle somehow breached the parties’ Employme
Agreement. What is the basis for that contention. especially given the $100.000 ndvnnc;;m;mx ,:,)\:::::n.,‘ s (s
well ng your elients misunderstanding of "eamed” commissions as defined in the Employment /\;l'ccn‘;c,;ll;(h' (dr
what provision of the Employment Agreement do your clients contend Pinnacle breached? - P

Regards.

P, Blaine Grant

Member

Hayden Grant PLLC

718 West Main Street, Suite 202A
Louisville, Kentucky 40202

Tel: 502-638-2817

Cell: 502-314-0488
blainezehayden-grnt.eom

s havden-grant.cum

On May 31, 2014, a1 5:46 AM. Rex Flliott <rexetitevoperellivti.eom> wrote:
Blaine: Dur clients have resigned their positions. We will be in touch. Rex.

Rex H. Efliolt, Esg

Cooper & Ehiott, LLC

2175 Riverside Dove
Columbus. Ohio 43221
{614) 481-6000

{614) 4B81-600 1 (Fucsunile)
www. cooperéelliolt.com

] COOPER
Ry
& £LLIOTT

G empanageen feeaceg Drpete

We help those who have been harmed and ageressively pursue the ones weho hwet them.

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE:

The information in this electronic mail transmission and any documents accompanying it contain
confidential information belonging to the seader, which is fegally privileged. The information is
intended only for the use of the individual or entities named above. 1T you are not the intended
recipient, you are hereby notified that any disclosure, copying. distribution or the taking of any
action in reliance on the contents of this information is strictly prohibited. I you have Fccci\'uzi
this c-mail in ervor, please destroy the message in its entirety,

From: Blalne Grant [matlto; blaine@@hayden-grant.com]

sant: friday, May 30, 2014 5:13 PM

To: Rex Elliott
Subject: RE; Demand for Money Owed under Contractual Agreement

P425-015
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Rix ~ Attached is the revised calculation from my client, Pionacle Surely Services, ne
. ”» . N cT o
{“Pinnacle”). which { understand was previousty provided Lo your dlients on May 28, 2014, fassume yau
receiver a copy, but L send this to you in case you did not.

As you will see, your chents actually owe Pinnach a substanhalsum  In compacing the
ralculation submitiad by your clionts on Moy 27, 2014 (which Ereceived on May 23, 2014) to iy chent’s
attached caleutation, it appears that, iu addition to confusion on your clients’ pirt as 1a when
cominissions are actualiy earned par the Employment Apraement, your dlients do nol take o account
the substantial advance made by my client to yaus.

Ascset {orth inmy May 206, 2013 pmail tn you, my clientis voaware of any hreach of the partiog’
Fmployment Agreement for outstanding wagesfrompensation ovred your clients. We are making overy
etfort to be {air and reasonablo, and have every inteation Lo comply, and have in fact complied, with the
parties’ Employment Agreement. We, in turn, simply ask that your clients do the sane.

Again, we are mare than willing to consider any additional information/dacumentation you
fave 1o support your alfegation, and loek forward o hearing feom you.

Recards,

P, Blaine Grant

Vrasden Gt PLTC

T1H W est Main Street, Suite 2007
Louiaille, Kentnehy Jdo202
blainedarhnvden-grant.eon

pel: SO2 0380817

evtl 3023V LLIINS

Tn: SO2.RBL0707
warnJfasden-Grantoom

From: Rex Elliott [maﬂlo:rexe(ﬁ!roomzmllioll.cqm]

Sent: Wednesday, May 28, 2014 9:49 AM

To: Blaine Grant

Cc: Lorl Smurr; Tammy McKinney

Subject:s FW: Demand for Money Owed under Contractual Agreement
Importance: High

Blaine: {am sure your cient provaded the caleutation 1o you bul an sending it on 10 case my assuaption
is wrong. Your client also his all the supporting documentation, Rex,

flex W Biodt Esg

Couper & Elliott LLC

2175 Riverside Dove
Calumbus, Otue 42227
(H143 181-6000

(6:14) 481-G00 1 (Facsimila)
www.caoperelliott. com

#: 29
#:. 8

v
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May 30, 2014

Eric Lowey & Mark Richardson
Pinnacle Surety Services, Inc.
151 Kalmus Drive, Ste A201
Costa Mesy, CA 92626

RE: Todd P. Loehnert & John B Ayres
Mr. Lowey & Mr, Richardson:

Due to a breach of the Employment Agrecment by Pinnncle Surcty Services, Inc., we
hereby terminate for cause our cmployment obligations with Pinnacle Surety Services
effective immediately. Notwithstanding and due to our respect and appreciation for
Pinnacle Surety Services, one of us will continue our employment obligations with
Pinnacle Surcty Services up to and including June 9, 2014 if requested.

RW Submitted,
eSS 2

/ .} 3,
Todd P. Loshnert John B, Ayres

P425-018
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Blaine Grant

From: Blaine Grant

Sent: Wednesday, June 04, 2014 $:53 AM

To: Rex Elliott {(rexe@cooperelliott.com)

Subject: FW: Demand for Maney Owed under Contractual Agreement
Attichments: True Up per Agreement.xlsx

flex -- One other point regarding your clients” incorrect contention that Pinnacle has somehow breached the
tmployment Agreemant antl your clients are entitled to resign with cause due to alleged unpaid
commissions. Paragraph 5.0. of the Employment Agreement provides that earnad commissions are not even eligible tor
payinent until after August 30™. Again, there is no legitimate hasis that Pinnacle has somehow breached the

Employment Agreement for alleged unpaid wages/compensation, and that yaur clients are entitled to resign with cause

far that reason.
Remivds,

. Blaine Cannd

Havden Grant PLLC

718 West Main Street, Suite 2028
| ouis ille, Rentncky 0200
Blaine o luyden-granteom

ol 026382817

cell: 025 1HL0-488

fan: MI2.810.0707

s hivdea-Girantoem

From: Blaine Grant [mailto:blalne@hayden-grant.com]
Sent: Tuesday, June 03, 2014 3:52 PM

To: 'Rex Elliott’
Subject: RE: Demand for Money Owed under Contractual Agreement

Rex — This is In response Lo the May 30, 2014 resignation letter of Todd P. Loehnert and John B. Ayres {“your
clionts™), in which they both unilateratly resign and incorrectly suggest that ene of them, in accordance with the partiey
pmployment Agreement, will continue their emiployment obligations up to and including June 9, 2014 (the end of the
ten (10} day natice period). Your clients’ resignation lelter, however, does not comply with paragraph 12,00 of the
parties Employment Apteement, which specifically gronts Pinnacle Surety Services, Inc. {“Pinnacie” or "my client”) the
option of retaining hoth your clients for a pevind of thitty (30) days, or accepting the resignations within or less thon the
ten (10) day notice period. That paragraph provides that if Pinnacle decides to retain your cliants {or fess than the ten
day notice period, it does 50 ~with uo further obligation’” 10 yosu clients, In accoidance with paragraph 12.0,, Pinnncle
herehy accepts your clients’ resignation effective June 8, 2014, which is less than the ten day notice pedod, and

therefore has oo further obligalion (o your clients.

As {or your clients’ contention that Pinnacle bas somehow breached the Frployment Agreemoent and your
clients are entitled to resign with cause, that issue has been addressed, denied and refuted multipte times, as set forth in
the attached and belavs, 10 addition (¢ confusion on your clienty’ part as to when commissions are actually vzﬁnvd wr
paragraph 5.8, of the Employment Agreement, your clients do not take into account the substantiol advan’cé ta y;)u!r Y
clients in 2013 of 100,000, as well as another substantial advance to your clients of $76,000 in 2014, Simply put, your
clients actually mwe Pinnacle a sizeable sum. Morgover, piven Pinpacle’s acceptance of youe clients’ resionation Arinr 10
the expiration of the ten day notice period, Pinnacle bas no further obligation to your clients.

t
P425-019
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As set forth below and in the attached, my client s unaware of any breach of the parties’ Employment
Agreement for outstanding wages/compensation owed your clients. We have made every effor£ to be f 1;’- o |
reasonable, and have every intention of complying, and have in fact complied, with the parties’ Empl()\/l;)(ill’ln(
Agreemient. We, in turn, simply ask that your clients do the same, ’

We have explained multiple times that Pinnacle does not owe your clients additional wages/compensation, and
is i no way in breach ol the Employment Agreement lor alleged unpaid amounts. We even invited you to present ‘
additional information/documentation explaining your clients’ contention that they are owed additional money
accordance with the parties’ Employment Agreement, as set forth below, and asked you to explain the bosis for that
cantention and jdentity the specific provision in the Employment Agreement your clients’ contend has been
preached. We also even offered, on May 30, 2014, to have your clients’ CPA review our calculations and explain how
thera is some alleged underpayment to your clients. Despite this, we received no additional
information/documentation from your clients explaining why they contend they are owed the amount they allege, what
provision of the Employment Agreement they contend was breached, and no response to having your client’s (;p,\‘
roview our calculations and establish that there is some alleged underpayment (o your clients.

Instead, your clients resigned and contend that there is some purported breach, There is no breach. This is
simply a ploy by your clients (o attempt to avoid paragraph 13 of the Employment Agreement, which allows Pinnacle 1o
recover $250,000 from your clients in the event they terminate, as they have, the Employment Agreement before its

term expires.

in surn, and in accordance with paragraph 12.0. of the Employment Agreement, Pinnacle hereby accepts your
clients’ resignation effective June 8, 2014, which is less than the ten day notice period, and has no further obligation to
your clients. In addition, and as noted above and in the attached, there is no legitimate basis that Pinnacle has
somehow breached the employment Agreement for alleged unpaid wages/compensation, and that your clients are
antitled to resign with cause for that reason.

Your clients are 1o leave safely in the leased premises alt assels purchased or provided by Pinnacle including
bl not limited to, all laptops, Ipads, office equipment, office furniture, office supplies, and the lika. ’

Regards,

*, Blnine Grant

tlayden Grant PLLC

718 West Main Street, Suite 202A
Lugisvilke, Kentneky 40202
blainei@hayden-urant.con

el S02.638.2817

cell; 3023110488

sy U2 8490707

wavw. Havden-Crrant.com

From: Blaine Grant [miilto:blainei@hayden-grant.com]

Sent: Saturday, May 31, 2014 9:08 AM

To: Rex Elliott

Subject: Re: Demand for Money Owed under Contractual Agreement

P425-020
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Rex - ] understand that your clients contend that Pinnacle somehow breached the parties* Bmployment

Agreement. What is the basis for that contention, espeeially given the $100,000 advancement 1 your clients (as
well as your clients misunderstanding of "earned” commissions as defined in the Employment Agreement) snf;l]\
whal provision of the Employment Agreement do your clients contend Pinnacle breached? N T

Regards,

. Blaine Grant

Member

Hayden Grant PLLC

718 West Main Street, Suite 2024
Louisville, Kentueky 40202

Tel: 502-638-2817

Cell: 502.314-0488
blamesthayden-grant.com
www.havden-prant.eom

On May 31, 2014, at 5:46 AM, Rex Elliott <rexefdcouperellioft,com> wrote:

Blaina: Our clients have resigned their positions. We will be in touch. Rex,

Rex H. Elliotl, Esq.
Cooper & Eliolt, LLC

2175 Riverside Drive
Golumbus, Ohio 43221
(614) 481-6000

{614) 481-6001 (Facsimile)
www.coonerelliott.com

4 COOPER

Compastan fararity Dipesisw
; LIEEH

We help those who have been harmed and aggressively pursue the ones who hurt them.

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE:

The infarmation in this electronic mail transmission and any documents accompanying it contain
confidential infarmation belonging to the sender, which is legally privileged. The information is
intended only for the use ot the individual or entities numed above. II'you are not the intended
recipient, you are hereby notified that any disclosure, copying, distribution or the taking ol any
action in reliance on the contents of this intormation is strictly probibited. 1 you have received
this e-mail in ereor, please destroy the message in its entirety,

From: Bigine Grant [mailto:blaing@hayden-grant.com]

Sent: Friday, May 30, 2014 5:13 PM

To: Rex Elliott

Subject: RE: Demand for Money Owed under Contractual Agreement

P425-021
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From: Todd Loshnert <Todd@pinnadclesurely coms
Date: May 6, 2014 at 2227.11 PM PDT

To: Efic Lowey <Encipmnnaclzsurety com>, Mark Richardson <Mark@pinnaclesurgty com>

Cc: Brian Ayres <Bran@pmnaclesirely com>
Subject: Kentucky Proposal:

Eric & Mark:

First of all, | wanted to thank you for sitting dowr with Brian & 1 in San
Antonio. | have attached Bullet Point Proposal for your review. Once you
have had time to digest and talk, | would like to set up a conference call to
see where we go from here.

Thanks, and let me know if you have any questions and/or comments.

"odd

Todd P Lochnert/ Managing Divecior/Pianacle Surety of Kentucky

119 8. Sherrin Ave, Ste 180§ Louisville, KY {0207
phone 502-259-9808 x204| fan 502-895-9334 | Cell: {502) 216-1454 | email
todd®pinnaclesurety.com

This email and any files transnidited with it are confidential and intended solely {or the use of
the individual or entity to whom they are addressed I you have received this email in error
please notily the systeim manager This message contains confidential information and is
intended only for the individual named. If you are not the named addressee you should nat
disseminate, distribule or copy this e-mail. Please notify the sender immediately by e-mall if
you have received this e-mail by mistake and delete this e-mail from your system. If you are
not the intended reciplent you are notilied that disclosing, copying. distributing or laking any
action in reliance on the contents of this information is strictly prohibited ’

)

https:#/mail.google.com/mail/A0/2ui-2&ik-»0ed Bael3 7& view pt&ear=INBOX/Client%a20c.

P425-162
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2 attachments

@ ‘l:ér}znacle Surety Of Kentucky Proposal.doc

sy ATT00001.htm

@ﬂ(
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Pinnacle Surety Of Kentucky Proposal

As a follow up to our meeling on Tuesday morning, April 29", 2014 at the NASBP
Annual meeting in San Antonio, TX, | am proposing the following separation agreement
between Pinnacle Surety Services, Inc. and Pinnacle Surety of Kentucky. This
decision/proposal has not been taken lightly and we hope that it provides a platform for
the two operations to be associated with each other for many years to come.

Effective July 1, 2014, Pinnacle Surety of Kentucky would terminate its relationship with
Pinnacle Surety Services, Inc. as it exisls under the current contract. We are proposing
that the following steps take place.

L3

Pinnacle Surety of Kentucky would pay a "Franchise Fee” (for lack of a better
term) of $100,000 to Pinnacle Surely Services, Inc and $25,000 for each
additional year in business to Pinnacle Surety Services, Inc. with a minimum
guarantee of $250,000. This fee would be for use of the Pinnacle Surety of
Kentucky name and the ability to state that our two firms are associated with
gach other. This would be extremely beneficial to both parties’ at NASBP and
SFAA functions moving forward, | also see this association as a Peer Review
relationship. We would like to propose a annual meeting between the two firms
(even years at a location hosted by Kentucky and odd years hosted by California)
to review markel conditions, results. prospscting, marketing trends, carrier
relations, etc.
Pinnacle Surety of Kentucky will assume all leases, carrier
appointiments/contracts, SurePath, office supplies, office equipment, inforrmation
technology, human resources, etc, (We would request a leller to SurePath giving
the approval to transfer client data and information to Pinnacle Surety of
Kentucky) effective July 1, 2014. Pinnacle Surely of Kentucky would also
reimburse Pinnacle Surely Services, Inc. for any deposils and/or damages for
transferring contractual agreements
As a result of earned premium being collected in the months following the July 1%
date, we would propose that our initial payment of $100,000 be settled by
October 1* due to reconciling accounts receivable and commission due. In
essence, we would true up based upon our January 1. 2014 to June 30" 2014
numbers by October 1%, 2014,
The second and final payment to Wells Fargo of $100,000 would be paid on May
30", 2014. We have escrowed the following for this payment:

o $50.000 from our 2013 True UP

o B 8,935 from the Greal American Profit Sharing

¢ $13,756 from the Hanover Profit Sharing

wo & 4,905 sipit from 03-12-14 email attached

i+ We are currently $40,789 ahead of our pay (True up calculation) through

(04/30/14 (obviously, this number will change by 06/30/14) )

5
2

P425-164
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This balance of funds more than covers our final payment to Wells Fargo
Insurance Services. .

s Pinnacle Surety of Kentucky will provide a hold harmless to Pinnacle Surety
Services, Inc. for any and all liability resulting from actions occurring during the
time of employment of the two executives of Pinnacle Surety of Kentucky.

+ Profit Sharing for 20114 will be split in March/April of 2015 when received
Pinnacle Surety of Kentucky will provide all documentation from the various
carries that it receives a profit sharing check. These profit sharing
checks/contingents will be pro-rated the first six months of 2014 and will be split
60% to Pinnacle Surety of Kentucky and 40% to Pinnacle Surety Services, Inc.
The exception to this is the Travelers Program. Travelers Program Manager has
a loss participation provision which is totally the risk of the Executives of Pinnacle
Surety of Kentucky. If any profit sharing is received out of the Travelers Pragram
Manager for results in 2014, 100% will be retained by Pinnacle Surety of
Kentucky.

» Pinnacle Surety of Kentucky would continue to identify potential satellite
producers for Pinnacle Surety of Kentucky. We have and will continue to identify
potential producers for Pinnacle Surety Services, Inc.

Obviously, if both pariies agree to fundamental concept of the above, we would have
our attorney draft a formal separation agreement for you and your counsel {o review.

Once you have had time io review the attached proposal. please let me know if you
would fike to set a time to discuss,

P4235-165
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From: Eric Lowey <Eric@pinnaclesurety.com>

Date: May 15,2014 at 11:08:14 AM PDT

To: Todd Loehnert <Todd@pinnaclesurety.com>, Brian Ayres
<Brian@dpinnaclesurety.con>

Ce: Mark Richardson <Mark@pinnaclesurety.com>

Subject: Kentucky Propesal:

Hi Todd & Brian,
In response to your separation proposal dated May 6th, 2014, we respectfully decline.

Mark and | have met regardir;'g this and have decided we will stick to the agreermnent we
all signed and dated April 13", 2013 and reformation agreement signed and dated

December 8" 2013.

We look forward to a continued successtul refationship.
Let me know what questions you have,
Thank you,

Eric

P425-156
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COOPER 2175 Riverside Drive
& Columbus, Ohio 43221
e — tel 614-481-6000
| ELLIOTT fax 614-481-600]
May 23, 2014 :
BY EMAIL T Q
. : Por discussion purpoxes onty. Under Evidence Rule 408
Mr. Eric Lowey, President . snd other rpplicable standards, this correspondencs: |
Pinnacle Surety & Insurance Services ot b0 bs cansidered 23 evideove, sdmlaslons oc for :
151 Kalmus Drive #ny purposes other than discussion of resolution of
Suite A-201 this st

Costa Mesa, California 92626

Re:  Todd Loshuert snd Brisn Ayres y. Pinnacle Sarety, Inc.

Dear Eric:

In the event the mongy is not released immediately, Mr. Lochnert and Mr. Ayres
will promptly file suit against Pinnacle seeking all of the money owed, double damages and
attorney fees authorized under Kentucky law (KRS §337.385), and any damages sustained by
M. Lochnest or Mr. Ayres due to the inability make the second installment payment on Jute 1*
in accordance with the Wells Fargo Seftlement Agreement, including Wells Fargo's legal fees 1o
enforce the obligation and the 10% interest obligation set forth in the Note.

P425-030
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Mr, Cric Lowey, President

May 23, 2014
Page 2
REDACTED
Very truly YOMSW
Rex H. Elliott
RHE¥/Ms

ce; G. Bruce Stigger, Esq.
Mr. Todd Loehnert
Mr. Brian Ayres

gelD #: 886

P425-031
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i

HAavybDrN GRrANT PLILC

ATPTTORNEYS AT L

July 22014

Bruee Stigger

Mamnion Stigger L1LP

2301 River Road, Suaite 11
Louisville, Kentuchy 402406

Ret Pinncle Surety Services, e, v Todd P Loclimert, o1 af ., United States District
Court, Western Distict ol Kentueky, Louisville, Kentucky, Civil Action No.
3H-OV-25-H and Todd P Loclert, vt al v Piniracte Surete Services, hae,,
Uniited States District Court, Western District of Kentueky, l_(.lllif;\‘i”u‘.
Kentueky., Civib Action Noo 31420V 4 80-H

Dear Bruce:

This is i response o yawr Fane 18, 2014 fetter where you returned the final payroll
checks for Mro Lochnert and Mo Ayres, This position is particularly curious and inconsistent
given that their own resignation letter specifically envisioned al Teast one of them continning
their eimployment with Pinnacle through the ten (101 day notice period o June 9. 2014, N

2

In any event, and ax ser forth 1o my corvespondence dated June 3, 2004 which ix

attached as Fixhibit G Pionacle™s Veritied Complaint, the May 30, 2000 vesipgnation leuer of

Mr, Lochnert and Mo Ayres was invalid and deleetive for a pumber of reasons as i1 {niled 1o
comply with the parties” Employment Apreement. Specilically. in accordance with paragraph
12200 of the Employment Agreement. Mr. Loehnert and M Ayres had oo right 1o unilaterally
resign, as they attempted to do, as Pinnacle had tie express option of retaining them both for g
period of thirty (30} days, or accepting their resighations within or less than the ten (10) Jday
notice period. That paragraph provides that il Pinnacle decides to retain them for fess than the
ten day nolice perind, it does so "with no further obligntion”™, I aceordance with paragraph
12.D.. Pinnucke aceepted their resimutions effective Jupe 8. 2014, swhich is less than the ten das
notice period, and although Pinnacle has no further obfigation w them, it chose to send them
payroll checks through the June 8. 2014 effeetive date. This was not a mistake, as you suguest in
your letter and. as you noted in your letter, this is in no way u cancession af Bability as to the
atlegations made by Mr. Lochnert and M. Avres agaiost Pinnacle. You obviously have the right
o reluse to accept these payroll cheeks on behalf of Mr. Loehnert and Mr. Avees. bat that dues
not change the fact that their resignations were offective June 8, 2014,

W is unforiunate that you and Jean M. Terry no longer plan 1o sereen yoursehy es from
thin mutter(sy despite your clear conflict of interest. 1 will not address the details of that contlict

P425.152
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as it has heen relayed o you in numerous correspondence. We will address that issue witl the
Court at the appropriate time.

Finally, in accordance and compliance with pacagraph S.L. ol the Employment
Agreement emtitled “Comumissions on Termination™. and based upon commissions paid and
received by Pimnacle in June, 2014 through the resignation date. which execeded the priar
advances 1o or on behalt of Mr. Lochnertand Mr. Ayres, enclosed is o commission check made
payable 1o both of them totaling $7.694.00. The timing ol this payment which. in accardanee
\_\‘iih the Emplovment Agreement, would be due smm:timc alter /\ug,u;:l 30, 2014, 38 m':cc!cmmi
by paragraph 5 1z, and is made given that the substantial advances of $179.906.40 by Pinnacle to
or on hehalf of My, Lochoert and Mro Ayres have now only rcccnliy’hucn’ exhausted by the
commissions paid and received by Pinnacle in June. 2014 through the resignation date.

Truly youwrs,

i
-t

PR
[

P, Blame Granl

PRGAp
Eaclosure

P425-15
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Welcome to Fasttrack Organization Search

L.A. Surety Solutions LLC

General Information

Page 53 of 65 PagelD #
gPage lof2 ngelD #

Page | of ]

Organization Number 0885641

Name L.A. Surety Solutions L1.C

Profit or Non-Profit P - Profit

Company Type KLC - Kentucky Limited Liability Company
Status A - Active

Standing G - Good

State KY

File Date 472572018 §1451 AM

Organization Date

472572004 B:14:51 AM

L ast Annual Report N/A
Principat Office 2301 River Road
Suite 1
Louisville, KY 40206
mManaged By Members

George Bruce Stigger
230 River Road
Suite 101

Louisville, KY 40206

Reglstered Agent

current Officers
Individuals / Entities listed at time of formation
Fadd L ochnent

Organizer

Images available online

Documenis fled with the Office of lhe Secretary of State on September 15, 2004 or therealtes are available as scanned

images of PDF documents Documents filed prior to Septembar 15, 2004 will become avaifable as the images are

ceeated

4/24/2014 4:58:11 PM 1 page PDE

Articles of Oraganization

Assumed Names

Activity History

Fliing File Date Effective Date Org. Referenced
Add 4/25/2014 4/25/2014
8:14:51 AM 8:14:51 AM

Microfilmed Images

https /app.sos.ky.gov/iishow/(S(waudliw2eyv23acn Hiwapmkn))/default.aspx?path=(tscarc..

312

- 889

P425-041
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890

Alison Lundargan Grimes

Recoived and Filed
AI25{2014 8.14 AM
Feo Receipl. $40.00

0885641.06 mstratton
LADD

Komucky Secrotary of State

COMMONWEALTH OF KENTUCKY
ALISON LUNDERGAN GRIMES, SECRETARY OF STATE

Diviston of Buslness Fillngs Articleé of Organization KLG
Buslnass Fliings Limited Liability Company
PO Box 718

Frankfon, KY 40802
(502) 564-3480
www.sos.ky.gov

Pussuant to KRS
Adicle 1| The name of the imited Hability company is

|_A. Surety Solutions, LLC

14A and KRS 275, the undorsignad spplies to quality and for that purpose submits the following stalemants

Adicle 11 The street address of the Wited liabililty compaany's initial registerad office In Kentucky is

2301 River Road, Suite 101 Louisville KY 40206
Biraet Addruss Only (No Post Offico Box Nurobars) Clty Siate Fip Coda

George Bruce Stlgger

and the name of the Initial registered agent at that offica is o

Anticte {ll: The malling address of the imitad liability company's Initint principal office s

9301 River Road, Suite 101 B Louisville KY 40207

ity Stats Zip Code

Straot Addsous or Post Offico Box Numbst

Article [V:_The limiled liability company it lo be managed by (must check one):

A. & manager(s).

‘ J ! B. its member(s).

Adicle V: This applicallon will bo effective upon filing, unless a delayed effective date andior time s provided. The efieciive

tive dale cannot be pror to the date the applicalion is flled. The date andior ime s

eff. .
date or the delayed effet T

dote andor Ums)

We dec}are/mder penalty f?“ﬁerjury under the laws of the state of Kenlucky thet the foregolng s trug and correct

—/:)*3 oS Todd P. Loghnert, Managing Member 04/25/2014
éfqnaiﬁ'ﬁj ol‘LOrg\dnl;or E Frinted Namo & Title Bata
Sigmiuro of Organizer Priatad Namo & Titlo Bats -
§ Geon _e__gggg‘e StEQQB“I'_» e e CONSEOY 10 SEIVE DS 1he registered agent an hehaif of the Himitad kability cothpony
* Binl H3tne of Reqls) .
George Bruce Stigger 04/25/2014
" Printed Naing ] " ~ “Data

Signalure of R

{n1Hre)
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Eric Lﬁwey

From: Walla,David [DWALLA@travelers.com]
Sant: Friday, May 16, 2014 8:42 AM

To: Todd Loshnert

Subject: FW: Pinnacle Surely of Kentucky

Todd,
Here you go.

Dave

From: Soucek,Rae

Sent: Friday, May 16, 2014 9:40 AM

To: Walla,David

¢c: Nebraska,Patd W; Bender,Douglas E.
Subject: RE: Pinnacle Suraty of Kentucky

Dave, as soon as Todd has the following Information, plesse have him send it to me, and | can get the on line
paperwork started, We use an on line system now for appointment papérwork so Todd or maybe Monlca could
complete that once we have the following information from Todd.

s Copy of ageney license
» Mew Tax H)

«  Agency tinanclals or balance sheet {or business plao — sormething to show assets and liabllities)

Please keep me posted, Thanks Davel

Rae Sourek | Sr Administrutive Assistant| Bond & Financlal Prodticts
Teavalars

5150 Oak Tree Blvd,, Saulh, #500 ] Pink Canler Plaza il

Indupendence, OH 44131

soucek@lrgvelers.com
W 216.643.2304 F 216.6413.2420

Pr-N
TRAVELERS ]

Fromi: Walla,David
Sent: Friday, May 16, 2014 9:35 AM

To: Soucek,Raa
Cec: Nebraska,Paul W; Bender,Douglas E.
subject: Pinnaclz Surely of Kentucky

Ran,

‘todd Loehnert has infarmed that they will be making another change, mast likely onJuly 1, Thoey will he
changing the name of the agency as well as address and e-mails, etc. Todd and Brian Ayers will be the sc;ie
vwners now. Everything else remains the same. Todd needs to know what must be done to accomplish this
from our standpolint as far as licensing, POA, accounting, etc. | was hoping that you could let him know what Is

5/16/2014 P425-169
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neederd 5o he can get working on it.

Of course this is confidential information at this polnt.  He also wants lo make sure that no broker of Record
letters will be needed with this change. He has checked with his attorney and they advise that thelr agreement
with Pinnacle should allow Todd and Brian to have awnership of thelr sccounts. If necessary, he would share
that agreement with our legal folks to make sure of this.

‘Thanks. | know he is in “good hands®.

David Walla [AEQ }B8ond Constiuction Services
Travelers

825 Eden Park Dr. {Suils 500

Cinginnoti, OH 45202

W 613-630-5342 F: B6B-269-400)

5
TRAVELERS

This communication. Inthiding allachments, is confidentinl, may be subject to lugal privileges, and i Intended for tha sule uss of the sudressue Any
lealjon, discfosura or dissenynalion ol this connwnication, oiter than by the adaressas, is prohidiled. 1f you have tecalvad this )
a nolily the sundar immedialaly and dolete of destroy Jhis communisatlon any aR coples

usy, dup
conynunlcation in etror, ploas

TRYDReDefaul2 31201
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Erom: Marin, Tim [mailto:tdmartin@GAIC.COM]

Sent! Friday, May 16, 2014 7127 AM
Jo: Todd Loehnert
Subject: Refreshments

Pve reviewed and can discuss whenever vou want, [am in Louisville today at 426-4688, Also, If you're available
today or next Friday maybe we could meet for an afternoon refreshment.

Timothy . Martin
Timothy D. Martin, Divislonal Assistant Vice President | 513.579.6309 | tdmartin@galc.com

Bong Dlvisian |§
htip: /vweww.GreatAmericanlnsuranceGroun.com

- 301 E. Fourth Street, 24" Floor, Cincinnatl, Ohto
45202

GREA IAmERICAN Great American Insurence Company Is proud of Its
HSURANCE GROYP A.M. Best rating upgrade to Y&+ (Stiperior)!

From: Tadd Loehnert [mailtar Todd@pinnaclesurety.com]
Sent: Thursday, May 15, 2014 5:24 PM

Ta: Martin, Tim

Subject:

P425-174
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Todd

Tedd P. Luehnert/ Mannging Divector/Pinnnaele Surety of Kentucky
119 S. Sherrin Ave, Ste 150 | Louisville, KY 40207

phone 502-259-9908 x204] fax 502-895-9334 | Cell: (502) 216-1454 | ernnil todd@pinnaclesurety.com
This email and any files transmitted with it are confidentiat and inlended solely for the use of the individual or o
enlity to whom they are addressed. (f you have recelved this omail in error plesse nolify the system manager. This
message contains confidential Infarmation and Is Intended only for the individual named. If you are not the named
addressee you shauld not disseminale, disiribule or copy this e-nrail Please palify the sender immediately by e-
mall If you have recelved this e-mail by mislake and delele this e-mall from your system. If you are not the

intendéd reciplent you are nolified that disclosing, capying, distributing or taking any action in reliance on the
contents af this information is strictly prohibited. ‘

The centant of this o.malt message and any atlachments are confidential ang may be legally privileged, intended sclely for tho
addressan. I you are not the Intanded rreiplent, be advised thal any use, dissemination, dislnbution, or copylng of this e-muil Is
stictly prohibifed. If you receive this message In error, please nolify Ihe sendar immedinlely by reply emall and dastioy the measags

and its attachmants

P425-175
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Hayden Grant PLLC Mail - RE: Todd Loehnert. et al. v, Pinnacle Surety Services, Inc. Page 1 of 4

®
G M - l g Blaine Grant <blaine@hayden-grant.com>

[PRIRE I

RE: Todd Loehnert, et al. v. Pinnacle Surety Services, Inc.
1 message

Rex Efliott <rexe@cooperelliott.com> Thu, Aug 7, 2014 at 5:00 PM
To: Blaine Grant <blaine@hayden-grant.com>
Ce: "G. Bruce Stigger" <bruce@manionstigger.com>

P Rlaine: None of the ‘chiants” have any current pbusiness retationship with Pinnacle and have made this
clear. Our clients absolutely had every right to inunediately resign due to your client’s failure lo pay them
amounts owed under the agreement. Where | come from this is called a niaterial breach The only reasan
we have not amended to sue for defamation and tortious interference is that 100% of the clients remain
firmly behind our clients But by all means continue to push the envelope with false and nusleading
communications to entities for which your clients have no business relationship and they vall end up paying
legal fees for years The communicatians are not only false, they centanly include defamatory innuendo
which is also actionable and clearly a concept you do not understand Enjoy your evaming. Rex

Rex H Etlliott. Esq

Cooper & Elliott, LLC

2175 Riverside Drive
Columbus, Chio 43221
(514) 481-6000

{514) 481-6001 (Facsimile)

www cooperteltiott com

From: Blaine Grant [mailto:blane@hayden-grant com]

Sent: Thursday, August 07, 2014 3:03 PM

To: Rex Elliott

Cc: G, Bruce Stigger

Subject: FW: Todd Loehnert, et al. v. Pinnacle Surety Services, Inc.

Rex —~ This is in rasponse to your altached July 31 2014 lelter requosting that Pinnacie csase
and dasist from cammunicating with its own customers  As you informed the prinaipals of Pinnacle when
you represented Pinnacle in the Wells Fargo maller. and as sel forth on page 15 of the Answer and
Counterclaims you filed on behall of Pinnacle. Mr. Loehnert and My Ayras in the Wells Fargo miatter,
Pinnacle "has valid business relalionships or expectancies with [its] customers”. and has every right to
communicate with its custemers. defermine what bonds were wnlien and during what e frama from
Pinnacle’'s Kentucky office. and make sure thal Pinnacle is properly paid for such bonds. and paidd in full

P425-158

htips://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?2ui=2& ik=0c43acl37& view=pl&as_sizecoperator=s_sl&...  9/30/2015
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There is no lorkous interference or defamation by Pinnacle. and for you to send a ceass and desist lalter
trying to inmpraparly keep Pinnacdle from communicating with ils own cuslomers s in itseif lortious
intarference

As for the specific allegations in your letter. you contend that it was false and defamatory for
Pinnacle to describe your clignts leaving Pinnacle as "premalure”, and for Pinnack? to descnbe your clients
resignation date with Pinnacle effective June 8 2014, Regarding the premature desarption your clients
were unquestionably under contract wilh Pinnacle for three years. To leave afler approgamately one yearis
by definition premature  Mareover. your clients were not “legally entitlad to resign immedialely”, as you
stiggest. As sel forth in paragraph 12.0. of the Employment Agreement. paragraph 27 of Pinnacle’s
Verilied Complant, my lelter to My Stigger dated July 2. 2014, and my emall to you dated June 3 2014,
Pinnacle has sel forth in painstaking detail why your clients’ kiay 30, 2014 resignation was invalid and
defactive and why they both were required to work for Pinnacle through and thewr resignations were
effeclive on, June & 2014 Again, there s nothing unmproper here

You also contend that simply because Pinnacle seeks to venfy whather it has Deen or s beng
paid in full for bonds written from Pinnacle’s Kentucky office through the date of your clients’ resignation
thal Pinnacie is somehow suggesting that your clients have nsappropriated funds. dlegally diverted money
or commiltad fraud. Thers s no such statement(s) contained in the letters 1o Finnacle’s customers. aned |
challenge you lo tind that fanguage in those lalters

Sunply put. therz (5 no tortious mterference or defamation by Pinnacle, and. as you previously
confumed in the Wells Fargo matter, Pinnacle “has valid business relationships or expeactancies wilh [its]
custamers”. and has every right to communicate with its customers. detenmine what bonds were writlen
and during what time frame from Pimnacle's Kentucky office, and make sure thal Pinnacle is proparly paid
for such bonds. and paid in full

Reyards.

P, Blaine Grant

ftayden Grant PLLC

TIR West Main Strect, Suite 2024
Fouisville, Keotucky 402402
Baine wrhas deresiantoon

wl B2 638 2817

eell 502 314.0488

lay: K02 848 Q707

waw Hin dep-Grantcom

#:
#:

319
896
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Hayden Grant PLLC Mail - RE: Todd Loehnert. et al. v. Pinnacle Surety Services. Inc.

From: Lori Smurr [maiH.o:!oris@caopereﬂiott.com}

Sent: Thursday, July 31, 2014 1
To: blainedhayden-grant.com
Cc: Rex Elliott

:30 PM

Subject: Todd Loehnert, et al. v. Pinnacle Surety Services, Inc.

Mr. Grant:

Please sec attached correspondence from Rex Ellott.

Lort Smurre

Loveri Limelsey Snutiy

Lori Lindsey Smurr

Office Administrator
Cooper & Elliott, LLC

2175 Riverside Drive
Columbus, Ohio 43221
(614) 481-6000

(614) 481-6001 (Facsimile)

v cooperelliott com

ﬁ hitp:/twnww.coopereliiatt.com
1Ponalsf289856/design. ind
ges/ce logatag-b.png

hl(ps://maiLgoogIc.com/mz\il.!u,’()/

Dui=2& ik=0ed{3nel37& views=pt&as_sizeoperator=s_sl&...
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Hayden Grant PLLC Mail - RE: Todd Lochnert, ¢t al. v. Pinnacle Surety Services, Inc. Page 4 of 4

We help those who have been harmed and aggressively pursue the ones who
hurt them.

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE:

The information in this electronic mail transmission and any documents accompanying it contain
confidential information belonging to the sender, which is legally privitaged. The information is intended
only for the use of the individual or entities named above. If youl are not the intended recipient, you are
hereby notified that any disclosure, copying, distribution or the taking of any action in reliance on the
contents of this information is strictly prohibited. If you have received this e-mail in error, please destroy the
message in ils entirety.

P425-161

hups:#/mail.google.com/mail/w/0/ui=2&ik=0c43ac37& view=pl&as_sizeoperator=s_sl&...  9/30/2015




Case 3:15-cv-00364-DJH Document 51-2 Filed 06/20/16 Page 63 of 65 PagelD #; 322
Case 3:14-cv-00425-JHM-CHL Document 57-16 Filed 12/30/15 “Page 1 of 2 PagelD #: 899

5/19/2014

CORFIDENTIALITY NOUTICE:

*¥he information i this electronfc sl & ission and auny d Be ponying it
cowtaln contiventiat lnformntion Lelouging to e sender, which is legally privileged. fhe
infurmation i3 fntended only for the use of Uie iudividun! or entities nogied ubove. 1 pou
ute ot the infendzd reeiplant, you we hereby natitied tiat uny disciusure, copying,
distrihation or the taklug ofany acting in seliance on the contants of tiis informntion is
strigtty pohitstzd, 7 you have seceived this e-mail in enor, please destmy the message in

ils eantitety.

Frons Eric Lowesy

Sent: Friday, May IG, 2014 5:48 PH

To: Todd Leehnart

U Eric Loyt BuIan Ayres; Mk Richiavidsen
Sublect: Ry Plnnade Suraty of Kerduchy

2k keup me posted | want 1o know what your intentives are 50 we knaw huw 1o proceed)

tHave u govd weekend

Erie

Sent from my iPlioue

On hiay 16,2009, 11 1114 PM, ~Todd Lachnen® <Tagdd/@pinnpelesiraty com> wiate:
Your responsc (o our proposal was cleor, As  tesuil, we we Joiug vur fobs,

Should wa decitks otherwise, we switl fet yon koow, I you have somcthing
Totlier to discuss | amomen: than happy ts @K 1 you sext week, Heve o gond

weckend.
Seal o my ilthons

pimedesunty.com™

On bluy 15, 2014, at4:02 PM, "Bt Lowey” <i
wanle

How abous for Liow toag?
Sent ftom my iPhone

On Muy 16, 2014, 01 12:51 M, Fodd Locinest™
<Poddapinnuclepagly.com» winie:
nul st whot you what ¢ to soy beyand the et thing
wu continug ta do sur jobs

Seat from my iPhode

Qo Muy 16, 2001, 4t 3:38 Phi, “Eric Lowey™
<Krig/dplnnclesmely.cam> wiote,

Do yiw really think this is an neeeptable
unswer you peed 1o ¢ bevter then this

Sent fmm my iFhone

On Muy 16, 2014 of T2:33 PM, “Tadd
Laoehnen™ <Toddiplnnstlesurely,com™
winle:

We ore werking for Pinnache
md wil bu in toneh when
o i that changes.

Sent fram my iRhone
On Moy 16, 2004, a0 303
PM, “firic Lusay™
<Fricaipinyacioicty.com®
winte:

Good slienicen

Trxk uisd Brian,

Fwenied ky teusn
baze with you

P425-167
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Gtrys znd s2e
Wit yous giny
glan o golay
fopwerd,

Let mo know
ABAP.

Yhink you,

Frie Lowey
Pinnacle Sutely
15§ Kalmus Dr,
St A200

Cosin Mesa, CA
D3626

1dene; 7H4-546-
S100 Exz, 26
Foxt 714546
30

Cell: 734-83d-
Royal

Tho finast
camplimeant
I can
recelve is o
referral.
Thank yun
for your
partnershlp
& your
trust!

iy wanall xnd eny
Hlea peamnitial
with iy 850
cenfldeatiat atid
Tofraned sately Ax
the g ol e
fodivishial pr entity
o whanae ihey ke
setressed Iyos
st toccived this
<useil in ewee
please nutify the
system manErer,
This menspe
euatniny
eanfidentisl
infosmetivn pad is
intendedd caly for
e indfvigua
oainid, H yau of2
1¢d the gl

[RA AR
shoalis nat
disszminste,
Upstribulz o copp
this eenast Fleaye
natly the seader
anedistedy by ¢
neat thyod hnve
recelved thig e-inil
by nistake el
Beletz (ks ¢-mat
frum yow system
[y ste nad the
intended srcipien
youe ste pusified thet
Hscdusing, cupyiag,
disteituting ef
1sking iy a¢boa in
setlance oy the
Zetiauts of this
imfonuatinnis
sufstly profiftlisd

P425-168
£110/9M1 4



Case 3:15-cv-00364-DJH Document 51-2 Filed 06/20/16 Page 65 of 65 PagelD #: 324
Case 3:14-cv-00425-JHM-CHL Document 57-17 Filed 12/30/15 Page 1 of 1 PagelD #: 901

From: Todd Loehnert
Sent: Saturday, May 31, 2014 10:58 AM
Subject: Name Change to L A Surety Solutions LLC

We are very excited to announce that Todd Loehnert & Brian Ayres have assumed 100%
ownership of our Surety Agency and as a result, have changed the name effective May 31, 2014
to L A Surety Solutions LLC. The staff of our agency remains the same and our transition ’wm b
seamless. I have attached contact information for myself, Brian Ayres, Monica Kaiser, Paula ¢
Teague and our summer intern Lauren Loehnert, Please share this information with all of your
key employees who are involved in submitting and/or requesting bid, performance & payn-rem

bonds.

Please note the address change and the email
(@lasurety.net)

We are now truly a 100% locally owned and operated Surety Agency!1!

P425-157
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Blaine Grant
“

From: Blaine Grant

Sent: Tuesday, June 10, 2014 1:23 PM

To: ‘Rex Elliott’; 'Bruce Stigger' e
Subject: RE: Pinnacle v. Loehnert and Ayres

Rex/Bruce — We have considered the conflict issue, and your emails, and still believe there is a conflict with you
or your firms representing Mr, Loehnert and Mr, Ayres.

Even assuming the final Wells Fargo payment was made as you indicated in a prior emai, as set forth below,
Pinnacle still has a conflict concern with your prior representation of the parties regarding the Employment Agreement,
your prior representation of Pinnacle, Loehnert and Ayres in the Wells Fargo matter, and now your representation of
Loehnert and Ayres directly against Pinnacle in this matter. Pinnacle also has a conflict concern given the related nature
of the representations - they involve Pinnacle’s employment of your clients, the parties’ Employment Agreement, arid
the time and expense to Pinnacle associated with the Wells Fargo matter was a factor in the $250,000 reimbursement
figure now sought by Pinnacle against Loehnert and Ayres per the Employment Agreement. Finally, Pinnacle has a
conflict concern given the disclosure of confidential communications to you in the Wells Fargo matter, and regarding the
Employment Agreement, that could be used against Pinnacle in this matter.

We also never received the promised response from you explaining your clients’ breach allegation, why they
are not required to pay my client $250,000 for their premature resignation, '

Regards,

P. Blaine Grant

Hayden Grant PLLC

718 West Main Street, Suite 202A
Louisville, Kentucky 40202
blaine@hayden-grant.com

tel: 502.638.2817

cell: 502.314.0488

fax: 502.840.0707
www,Hayden-Grant.com

From: Rex Elliott [mailto:rexe@cooperelliott,com]
Sent: Thursday, June 05, 2014 9:21 AM

To: Blaine Grant

Cc: Bruce Stigger

Subject: RE: Pinnacle v. Loehnert and Ayres

Blaine: Sounds good. Let me know where you are on this and on the monetary amount we believe is owed s0 we can
work to schedule a meeting next week assuming you reach the same conclusion I have on the conflict issue. Rex.

Rex H. Elliott, Esq.
Cooper & Elliott, LLC
2175 Riverside Drive
Columbus, Ohio 43221
(614) 481-6000

(614) 481-6001 (Facsimile)

EXHIBIT 2
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www.cooperelliott.com

‘ CO%PER
N ELLIOTT
Compmittm.. Teascily, Expertise.
We help those who have been harmed and aggressively pursue the ones who hurt them.

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE:

The information in this electronic mail transmission and any documents accompanying it contain confidential
information belonging to the sender, which is legally privileged. The information is intended only for the use of
the individual or entities named above. If you are not the intended recipient, you are hereby notified that any
disclosure, copying, distribution or the taking of any action in reliance on the contents of this information is
strictly prohibited. If you have received this e-mail in error, please destroy the message in its entirety.

From: Blaine Grant [mailto:blaine@hayden-grant.com]
Sent: Thursday, June 05, 2014 7:24 AM

To: Rex Hlliott

Cc: Bruce Stigger

Subject: Re: Pinnacle v. Loehnert and Ayres

Rex - We are in the process of reviewing and analyzing this and your other emails from yesterday regarding the
conflict issue. I'll get back to you.

Regards,

P. Blaine Grant

Member

Hayden Grant PLLC

718 West Main Street, Suite 202A
Louisville, Kentucky 40202

Tel: 502-638-2817

Cell: 502-314-0488
blaine@havyden-grant.com
www.hayden-grant.com

On Jun 4, 2014, at 11:53 AM, Rex Elliott <rexe@cooperelliott.com> wrote:

Blaine: The Wells Fargo payment was made today as you can see by the attached. So, even though 1 do
not agree with your assessment at all, this issue is no longer part of the dispute between our clients and
yours. Let me know when your clients are available to meet. Rex.

Rex H. Elliott, Esq.
Cooper & Elliott, LLC
2175 Riverside Drive
Columbus, Ohio 43221
(614) 481-6000

(614) 481-6001 (Facsimile)
www.cooperelliott.com
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We help those who have been harmed and aggressively pursue the ones who hurt them.

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE:

The information in this electronic mail transmission and any documents accompanying it contain

confidential information belonging to the sender, which is legally privileged. The information is
intended only for the use of the individual or entities named above. If you are not the intended

remplent you are hereby notified that any disclosure, copying, distribution or the taking of any

action in reliance on the contents of this information is strictly prohibited. If you have received

this e-mail in error, please destroy the message in its entirety.
From: Blaine Grant [mailto:blaine@hayden-grant.com

Sent: Wednesday, June 04, 2014 11:41 AM

To: Rex Elliott; Bruce Stigger
Subject: RE: Pinnacle v. Loehnert and Ayres

Rex/Bruce —

Given the importance of this issue, | feel compelled to respond to your email in which you
refuse to withdraw as counsel for Mr. Loehnert and Mr. Ayres despite what is a clear conflict.

As stated below, SCR 3.130(1.9)(a) confirms that there is a clear conflict which precludes you
and your firms from representing Mr. Loehnert and Mr. Ayres directly against Pinnacle given your
multiple representation of Pinnacle, Mr. Loehnert and Mr. Ayres in the recent Wells Fargo litigation
matter,

You state below that you only represented Pinnacle at Pinnacle’s request. {‘m not sure what
difference that makes. Your email response and the attached pleading, along with multiple
correspondence, confirms that you clearly represented all three parties in the Wells Fargo matter,
including Pinnacle. Despite that, you are now adverse to Pinnacle in your representation of Mr.
Loehnert and Mr. Ayres regarding their Employment Agreement with Pinnacle, which is not
allowed. You have continuing duties with respect to confidentiality and conflict of interest to Pinnacle
that must be adhered to.

You also state below that these matters are separate and that your representation of Mr,
Loehnert and Mr. Ayres has nothing to do with the Wells Fargo matter. But simply reviewing the
attached letter, in which you threaten Pinnacle regarding the Wells Fargo matter, and contend that you
will seek damages against Pinnacle on behalf of Mr. Loehnert and Mr, Ayres regarding the Wells Fargo
matter, confirms that these matters are substantially related and that you cannot be adverse to
Pinnacle. Moreover, the Wells Fargo matter involved Pinnacle’s employment of Mr. Loehnert and Mr.
Ayres, and you are currently representing Mr. Loehnert and Mr. Ayres against Pinnacle regarding the
same issue - their employment with Pinnacle. This you cannot do.
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Finally, we disagree with your suggestion that Pinnacle has no interest in meeting and
attempting to resolve the matter. Pinnacle would very much like to meet and resolve this matter. Hs
concern is meeting with its former counsel that is now adverse to it.

Please reconsider your email below and confirm for me in writing that you and your firms have
ceased your representation of Mr. Loehnert and Mr. Ayres, and let me know who will be acting as their
counsel. Thank you.

Regards,

P. Blaine Grant

Hayden Grant PLLC

718 West Main Street, Suite 202A
Louisville. Kentucky 40202
blaine@hayden-grant.com

tel: 502.638.2817

cell: 502.314.0488

fax: 502.849.0707
www.Hayden-Grant.com

From: Rex Elliott [mailto:rexe@cooperelliott.com]
Sent: Tuesday, June 03, 2014 6:56 PM

To: Blaine Grant; Bruce Stigger

Subject: RE: Pinnacle v. Loehnert and Ayres

Blaine: Like nearly everything else we have received from you, this is not accurate. in the underlying
case, we represented Mr. Loehnert and Mr, Ayres first and only acted on behalf of the other defendant
at Pinnacle’s request. Moreover, that representation ended a year ago. And, we have never acted on
Pinnacle’s behalf on any matter other than the completely separate Wells Fargo matter. This matter, on
the other hand, has nothing to do with Wells Fargo and relates solely to the Employment Agreement
between our clients and Pinnacle. in that matter, we have never represented Pinnacle, In fact, Pinnacle
had its own lawyers draft the Agreement and we were adverse to Pinnacle reviewing it on behalf of Mr.
Loehnert and Mr. Ayers. As such, there is no conflict and we will not step aside. The last two emails
make it clear that you and/or your clients have no interest in meeting to discuss a resolution. | will
respond in more detail to your earlier inaccurate email but our clients left everything behind in their
offices other than their personal items and they took pictures of how they left the office. Rex.

Rex H. Elliott, Esq.

Cooper & Elliott, LLC

2175 Riverside Drive
Columbus, Ohio 43221
(614) 481-6000

(614) 481-6001 (Facsimile)
www.cooperelliott.com

[<image004 jpg>]
We help those who have been harmed and aggressively pursue the ones who hurt them.
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CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE:

The information in this electronic mail transmission and any documents accompanying it contain
confidential information belonging to the sender, which is legally privileged. The information is
intended only for the use of the individual or entities named above. If you are not the intended
recipient, you are hereby notified that any disclosure, copying, distribution or the taking of any
action in reliance on the contents of this information is strictly prohibited. If you have received
this e-mail in error, please destroy the message in its entirety.

From: Blaine Grant [mailto:blaine@hayden-grant.com]

Sent: Tuesday, June 03, 2014 6:17 PM

To: Rex Elliott; Bruce Stigger
Subject: Pinnacle v. Loehnert and Ayres

Rex and Bruce:

It has just come to my attention that you both previously and very recently represented
Pinnacle Surety Services, Inc. (“Pinnacle”), along with Mr. Loehnert and Mr. Ayres, in a 2013 lawsuit filed
in Jefferson Circuit Court by Wells Fargo. Please see the attached Answer and Counterclaim, at page 18,
in which you both are listed as counsel for Pinnacle, Mr. Loehnert and Mr. Ayres.

As you know, and as reflected in the attached letter, you both are now representing Mr.
Loehnert and Mr. Ayres directly against Pinnacle (my client). This representation constitutes a conflict
of interest, in accordance with SCR 3.130(1.9)(a), and is not waived by Pinnacle. This obviously
precludes the suggested meeting and your continued representation of Mr. Loehnert and Mr. Ayres.

Please confirm for me in writing that you and your firms have ceased your representation of
Mr. Loehnert and Mr. Ayres, and let me know who will be acting as their counsel. Thank you.

Regards,

P. Blaine Grant

Hayden Grant PLLC

718 West Main Street, Suite 202A
Louisville, Kentucky 40202
blaine@hayden-grant.com

tel: 502.638.2817

cell: 502.314.0488

fax: 502.849.0707
www.Hayden-Grant.com

b e e s
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Blaine Grant

From: Rex Efliott

Sent: Woednesday, June 04, 2014 12:31 PM
To: Blaine Grant; Bruce Stigger

Subject: RE: Pinnacle v. Loehnert and Ayres

Blaine: The only time | have ever spoken to anyone at Pinnacle is in connection with the Wells matter and this was only
on a couple occasions because the Wells case had to do with our clients contractual relationship with Wells, not
Pinnacle. Moreover, none of the few communications with your client had anything to do with the current dispute and,
in fact, Pinnacle used its own lawyers in the contract matter. We were adverse to Pinnacle in the drafting of the
Employment Agreement and the Reformation Agreement, which was done to correct errors made by Pinnacle’s lawyers,
so there can be no conflict as to this matter, Finally, our representation of Pinnacle ended with the resolution of the
Wells matter a year ago. There is no conflict and | would submit it is not even a close call. It is unfortunate that your
clients insist on raising side issues instead of focusing on the merits of the case. Rex.

Rex H. Elliott, Esq.

Cooper & Elliott, LLC

2175 Riverside Drive
Columbus, Ohio 43221
{614) 431-6000

(614) 481-6001 (Facsimile)
www.cooperelliott.com

CO%}’ER
A<l ELLIOTT

Compassion, Tenacity, Experelise.

We help those who have been harmed and aggressively pursue the ones who hurt them.

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE:

The information in this electronic mail transmission and any documents accompanying it contain confidential
information belonging to the sender, which is legally privileged. The information is intended only for the use of
the individual or entities named above. If you are not the intended recipient, you are hereby notified that any
disclosure, copying, distribution or the taking of any action in reliance on the contents of this information is
strictly prohibited. If you have received this e-mail in error, please destroy the message in its entirety.

From: Blaine Grant [mailto:blaine@hayden-grant.com]
Sent: Wednesday, June 04, 2014 12:24 PM

To: Rex Elliott; Bruce Stigger

Subject: RE: Pinnacle v. Loehnert and Ayres

One final point regarding the conflict issue. As you will see in the Commentary of SCR 3.130(1.9), “substantially
related” is not just limited to similar or related matters. It also includes the risk of confidential factual information you
obtained in your prior representation of Pinnacle that could now be used against Pinnacle in your representation of Mr.
Loehnert and Mr. Ayres. We believe that is a serious concern here, and further reiterates the need for you to cease
representing Mr. Loehnert and Mr. Ayres,
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Regards,

P. Blaine Grant

Hayden Grant PLLC

718 West Main Street, Suite 202A
Louisville, Kentucky 40202
blaine@hayden-grant.com

tel: 502.638.2817

cell: 502.314.0488

fax: 502.849.0707
www.Hayden-Grant.com

From: Blaine Grant [mailto:blaine@hayden-grant.com]
Sent: Wednesday, June 04, 2014 11:41 AM

To: 'Rex Elliott’; 'Bruce Stigger'

Subject: RE: Pinnacle v. Loehnert and Ayres

Rex/Bruce —

Given the importance of this issue, | feel compelled to respond to your email in which you refuse to withdraw
as counsel for Mr. Loehnert and Mr. Ayres despite what is a clear conflict.

As stated below, SCR 3.130(1.9){a} confirms that there is a clear conflict which precludes you and your firms
from representing Mr. Loehnert and Mr. Ayres directly against Pinnacle given your multiple representation of Pinnacle,
Mr. Loehnert and Mr. Ayres in the recent Wells Fargo litigation matter,

You state below that you only represented Pinnacle at Pinnacle’s request. I'm not sure what difference that
makes. Your email response and the attached pleading, along with multiple correspondence, confirms that you clearly
represented all three parties in the Wells Fargo matter, including Pinnacle. Despite that, you are now adverse to
Pinnacle in your representation of Mr. Loehnert and Mr. Ayres regarding their Employment Agreement with Pinnacle,
which is not allowed. You have continuing duties with respect to confidentiality and conflict of interest to Pinnacle that
must be adhered to.

You also state below that these matters are separate and that your representation of Mr. Loehnert and Mr.
Ayres has nothing to do with the Wells Fargo matter. But simply reviewing the attached letter, in which you threaten
Pinnacle regarding the Wells Fargo matter, and contend that you will seek damages against Pinnacle on behalf of Mr.
Loehnert and Mr. Ayres regarding the Wells Fargo matter, confirms that these matters are substantially related and that
you cannot be adverse to Pinnacle. Moreover, the Wells Fargo matter involved Pinnacle’s employment of Mr. Loehnert
and Mr. Ayres, and you are currently representing Mr. Loehnert and Mr. Ayres against Pinnacle regarding the same issue
- their employment with Pinnacle. This you cannot do.

Finally, we disagree with your suggestion that Pinnacle has no interest in meeting and attempting to resolve the
matter. Pinnacle would very much like to meet and resolve this matter. Its concern is meeting with its former counsel
that is now adverse to it.

Please reconsider your email below and confirm for me in writing that you and your firms have ceased your
representation of Mr, Loehnert and Mr, Ayres, and let me know who will be acting as their counsel. Thank you,

Regards,
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P. Blaine Grant

Hayden Grant PLLC

718 West Main Street, Suite 202A
Louisville, Kentucky 40202
blaine@hayden-grant.com

tel: 502.638.2817

cell: 502.314.0488

fax: 502.849,0707
www.Hayden-Grant.com

From: Rex Elliott [mailto:rexe@cooperelliott.com]
Sent: Tuesday, June 03, 2014 6:56 PM

To: Blaine Grant; Bruce Stigger

Subject: RE: Pinnacle v. Loehnert and Ayres

Blaine: Like nearly everything else we have received from you, this is not accurate. In the underlying case, we
represented Mr. Loehnert and Mr, Ayres first and only acted on behalf of the other defendant at Pinnacle’s request.
Moreover, that representation ended a year ago. And, we have never acted on Pinnacle’s behalf on any matter other
than the completely separate Wells Fargo matter. This matter, on the other hand, has nothing to do with Wells Fargo
and relates solely to the Employment Agreement between our clients and Pinnacle. In that matter, we have never
represented Pinnacle. In fact, Pinnacle had its own lawyers draft the Agreement and we were adverse to Pinnacle
reviewing it on behalf of Mr. Loehnert and Mr. Ayers. As such, there is no conflict and we will not step aside. The last
two emails make it clear that you and/or your clients have no interest in meeting to discuss a resolution. | will respond in
more detail to your earlier inaccurate email but our clients left everything behind in their offices other than their
personal items and they took pictures of how they left the office. Rex.

Rex H. Ellioft, Esq.
Cooper & Eliiott, LLC

21756 Riverside Drive
Columbus, Ohio 43221
(614) 481-8000

(614) 481-6001 (Facsimile)
www.cooperelliott.com

We help those who have been harmed and aggressively pursue the ones who hurt them.

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE:

The information in this electronic mail transmission and any documents accompanying it contain confidential
information belonging to the sender, which is legally privileged. The information is intended only for the use of
the individual or entities named above. If you are not the intended recipient, you are hereby notified that any
disclosure, copying, distribution or the taking of any action in reliance on the contents of this information is
strictly prohibited. If you have received this e-mail in error, please destroy the message in its entirety.
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From: Blaine Grant [mailto:blaine@hayden-grant.com]
Sent: Tuesday, June 03, 2014 6:17 PM

To: Rex Elliott; Bruce Stigger

Subject: Pinnacle v. Loehnert and Ayres

Rex and Bruce:

It has just come to my attention that you both previously and very recently represented Pinnacle Surety
Services, Inc. (“Pinnacle”), along with Mr. Loehnert and Mr. Ayres, in a 2013 lawsuit filed in Jefferson Circuit Court by
Wells Fargo. Please see the attached Answer and Counterclaim, at page 18, in which you both are listed as counsel for
Pinnacle, Mr. Loehnert and Mr. Ayres.

As you know, and as reflected in the attached letter, you both are now representing Mr. Loehnert and Mr.
Ayres directly against Pinnacle (my client). This representation constitutes a conflict of interest, in accordance with SCR
3.130(1.9)(a), and is not waived by Pinnacle. This obviously precludes the suggested meeting and your continued
representation of Mr. Loehnert and Mr. Ayres.

Please confirm for me in writing that you and your firms have ceased your representation of Mr. Loehnert and
Mr. Ayres, and let me know who will be acting as their counsel. Thank you.

Regards,

P. Blaine Grant

Hayden Grant PLLC

718 West Main Street, Suite 202A
Louisville, Kentucky 40202
blaine@hayden-grant.com

tel: 502.638.2817

cell: 502.314,0488

fax: 502.849.0707

www. Hayden-Grant.com
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
WESTERN DISTRICT OF KENTUCKY
AT LOUISVILLE

CIVIL ACTION NO. 3:14-CV-425-H

PINNACLE SURETY SERVICES, INC. PLAINTIFF
v,
TODD P. LOEHNERT, et al. DEFENDANTS

MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER

In April 2013, Defendants John Ayres and Todd Lochnert left their positions at Wells
Fargo for leadership roles at Pinnacle Surety Services (“Pinnacle”). Wells Fargo sued Ayres,
Loehnert, and Pinnacle, claiming that Ayres and Loehnert breached their employment
agreements and that Pinnacle tortiously interfered with those agreements. Two law firms—
Manion Stigger, LLP and Cooper & Elliot, LLC—represented all three defendants in that matter
and ultimately negotiated a settlement. In May 2014, Ayres and Loehnert left Pinnacle and
formed their own allegedly competing entity, L.A. Surety Solutions LLC. Pinnacle then sued
Ayres and Lochnert, alleging that they violated their employment agreements with Pinnacle.
Ayres and Loehnert also asserted various counterclaims. Now, Manion Stigger and Cooper &
Elliot represent Ayres and Loehnert against Pinnacle, their former client. Pinnacle has moved to
disqualify both firms, arguing a conflict of interest precludes them from serving as counsel in
this matter.

This case presents difficult questions amid some acrimony. The Court has attempted to
accurately assess the events and their significance. Both sides did an excellent job briefing the
issues. To that end, the Court engaged in a lengthy discussion with the parties concerning the

pending motions. The Court bases its ultimate conclusion upon the discernable hard facts.
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Rex Elliot (of Cooper & Elliot, LLC) and Bruce Stigger (of Manion Stigger, LLP) have
represented Todd Loehnert for more than two decades, but the chain of events leading to this
disqualification motion began just two years ago. On April 12, 2013, Loehnert and Ayres quit
Wells Fargo to work for Pinnacle. A day later, they signed the Employment Agreement with
Pinnacle. It provided that Loehnert and Ayres would work for Pinnacle for a minimum of three
years, beginning on April 13,2013, If both left early, each would be required to pay Pinnacle
$125,000 in liquidated damages (for a total of $250,000). This section of the contract explains
the basis for the provision:

Executives recognize that Pinnacle is expending significant resources on

establishing the Kentucky Office, and that those resources are being expended

based on Executive’s [sic] promises and representation with regard to their

expertise in the industry and their devotion to Pinnacle’s business. Executives

further recognizes [sic] that Pinnacle will only receive appropriate return on its

investment in the Kentucky office if the office remains open and profitable for a

period of time, and that Bxecutive(s’) termination of employment from Pinnacle

will cause Pinnacle to incur injury and damage, the actual amount of which would

be extremely difficult to determine. . . .
Pinnacle claims the parties anticipated litigation with Wells Fargo and that this was one of the
significant factors the parties considered in reaching the $250,000 liquidated damages figure.
Loehnert and Ayres, meanwhile, claim the figure was totally unrelated to the Wells Fargo matter.

Attorneys from Cooper & Elliot and Manion Stigger represented Loehnert and Ayres in
negotiating this employment agreement and its subsequent reformation’ in December 2013; the

law firms did not represent Pinnacle in either negotiation. Nevertheless, the purpose of the

liquidated damage provision would reemerge as a potential issue in subsequent litigation.

1 The parties agreed to this reformation after someone discovered a printing error in the April 2013 Employment
Agreement, The Court refers to these two documents collectively as the “Employment’ Agreement.”
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On April 25, 2013, Wells Fargo sued Loehnert, Ayres, and Pinnacle in Jefferson County
Circuit Court, alleging six counts: (1) breach of contract (against Ayres and Loehnert); (2)
breach of fiduciary duty of loyalty (against Ayres and Loehnert); (3) breach of covenant of good
faith and fair dealing (against Ayres and Loehnert); (4) violation of the Kentucky trade secret
statute (against all defendants); (5) unfair competition (against all defendants); and (6) tortious
interference with contract (against all defendants). According to Loehnert and Ayres, shortly
after Wells Fargo filed this complaint, Pinnacle proposed that Cooper & Elliot and Manion
Stigger also represent Pinnacle in order to save money “and because everyone knew Mr.
Loehnert and Mr. Ayres were the primary defendants in the case.” DN 17 at 5. Though neither
had ever represented Pinnacle, both Manion Stigger and Cooper & Elliot agreed and represented
Loehnert, Ayres, and Pinnacle in the litigation.

Loehnert and Ayres claim that during this representation Cooper & Elliot had only a few
telephone conversations with Pinnacle’s owner; used Loehnert and Ayres as the primary points
of contact in the litigation; and only provided updates on the status of the litigation without
sharing any confidential information.? Moreover, they assert that no one from Manion Stigger or
Cooper & Elliot has ever personally met the owners of Pinnacle. The lawyers nevertheless
submitted an answer and alleged multiple counterclaims on behalf of all three. Pinnacle paid
Cooper & Elliot a total of $32,650 after this matter settled.?

Attorneys from Manion Stigger and Cooper & Elliot settled this lawsuit with Wells Fargo
on June 4, 2013, and the suit was dismissed three days later. The terms of this settlement are

confidential. The parties have nevertheless disclosed that, as a part of this settlement, Loehnert

2 pinnacle disputes this point and claims that its principals “had numerous confidential and privileged
communications” with the lawyers regarding case strategy and facts, DN 14-1 at 6.

31, 0ehnert and Ayres admit that Pinnacle made this payment but claim it was an advance to Loehnert and Ayres,
who subsequently reimbursed Pinnacle for those fees.
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and Ayres agreed to pay Wells Fargo $100,000 immediately and another $100,000 a year later;
they made the final payment to Wells Fargo on June 4, 2014,

On June 5, 2013, Pinnacle wired $100,000 to the account of Manion Stigger, who was
acting as counsel to Ayres, Lochnert, and Pinnacle. Pinnacle describes this payment as an
advance on commissions to assist Ayres and Loehnert in paying their settlement obligations to
Wells Fargo. Pinnacle later signed a promissory note requiring it to pay $100,000 to Todd
Loehnert and Brian Ayres “with the interest at the simple interest rate of 4% per annum from
June 4™, 2013, until paid . .. .” It further provided: “The whole sum of principal and interest
shall become immediately due and payable on June 4™ 2014.” The parties dispute liability
under the promissory note and for the initial $100,000 payment, but the arguments on both sides
are not really clear and this issue is not currently before this Court.* But even under Loehnert
and Ayres’s version of the facts, the payment and promissory note stem from the first $100,000
owed under the Wells Fargo Settlement.’

On May 23, 2014, Rex Elliot (acting as counsel to Lochnert and Ayres) sent a demand
Jetter to Pinnacle, threatening a lawsuit seeking “any damages . . . due to the inability make [sic]
the second installment payment on June 1% in accordance with the Wells Fargo Settlement
Agreement, including Wells Fargo’s legal fees to enforce the obligation and the 10% interest
obligation set forth in the Note.” DN 14-4 at 1. Loehnert and Ayres now note that they

eventually paid this out of their own savings and chose not to pursue this remedy.

41 oehnert and Ayres contend that Pinnacle failed to pay amounts owed under the promissory note and sued
Pinnacle in a matter that has been consolidated with this one. Conversely, Pinnacle argues it paid its obligation
under the promissory note and that “both the loan and note are unquestionably connected to the Wells Fargo matter.”
5 A counterclaim asserted by Lochnert and Ayres notes that Pinnacle executed the promissory note “recognizing the
extraordinary value Plaintiff could receive by pulling [Loehnert and Ayres] from Wells Fargo.” DN 7 at 6. The
counterclaim also references the Wells Fargo settlement in another context: “On March 15, 2014, Pinnacle disbursed
the sum of $86,999.40, as directed by [Loehnert and Ayres], and withheld payment of the remaining $50,000, as
directed by [Loehnert and Ayres] for a June 4, 2014 payment the parties previously agreed to make to Wells Fargo
in order to settle a 2013 lawsuit involving Wells Fargo, Pinnacle, and the individual defendants,” DN 7 at7.
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On May 30, 2014, Loehnert and Ayres resigned from Pinnacle and two days later started
doing business as LA Surety Solutions LLC. The parties dispute whether Loehnert and Ayres’s
early resignation was a breach of the Employment Agreement. Loehnert and Ayres claim they
did not breach because Pinnacle failed to pay amounts owed under the Employment Agreement
and the promissory note (and have sued Pinnacle to recover these amounts). Pinnacle claims
Loehnert and Ayres breached the Employment Agreements and are therefore required to pay
$125,000 each in liquidated damages (and has sued Loehnert and Ayres to recover this amount).
Attorneys from Manion Stigger LLP and Cooper & Elliot, LLC currently represent Loehnert and
Ayers against their former client.

IL

Disqualification “is a drastic measure which courts should be hesitant to impose except
when absolutely necessary.” Zurich Ins. Co. v. Knotts, 52 S, W.3d 555, 560 (Ky. 2001). It
“separates a party from the counsel of its choice with immediate and measurable effect.” Id.
The Sixth Circuit has repeatedly held that disqualification is appropriate if “(1) a past attorney-
client relationship existed between the party seeking disqualification and the attorney it seeks to
disqualify; (2) the subject matter of those relationships was/is substantially related; and (3) the
attorney acquired confidential information from the party seeking confidential information.”
Bowers v. Ophthalmology Group, 733 F.3d 647, 651 (6th Cir. 2013) (quoting Dana Corp. v. Blue
Cross & Blue Shield Mut. of N. Ohio, 900 F.2d 882, 889 (6th Cir. 1990)). This standard is easy
to state but difficult to apply in circumstances such as these. In application, the third element
blends into the second. This is because the “former client is not required to reveal the

confidential information learned by the lawyer in order to establish a substantial risk that the

§1.ochnert and Ayres actually formed this entity on April 25, 2014. Bruce Stigger (of Manion Stigger) signed the
Articles of Organization as L.A. Surety’s registered agent.
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lawyer has confidential information.” Jd. at 651-52 (quoting Ky. S. Ct. R. 3.130(1.9) (cmt. 3));
id at 651 n.2 (“For this reason, our prior single-judge order was wrong to state that ‘it [has not]
been shown that any confidential information was disclosed that would pose a conflict.””).

Still, an attorney’s duty to protect a former client’s confidential information is central to
determining whether two matters are “substantially related.” In Bowers, the Sixth Circuit
squarely addressed this issue. There, the court applied Rule 1.9(a) of the Kentucky Rules of
Professional Conduct to a disqualification motion and said the rule “is essentially the same” as
the Sixth Circuit’s tripartite test. Id. at 651, This Kentucky Rule provides: “A lawyer who has
formerly represented a client in a matter shall not thereafter represent another person in...a
substantially related matter in which that person’s interests are materially adverse to the interests
of the former client.” Ky. S. Ct. R. 3.130(1.9)(a); see also MODEL RULES OF PROF’L CONDUCT
R. 1.9(a) (2011) (using identical language).

In Bowers, the court relied heavily on the comments to this rule and a federal district
court opinion in Xansas to define “substantially related.” Bowers, 733 F.3d at 651. In pertinent
part, the comments to Rule 1.9 state that “[m]atters are ‘substantially related” . .. if they involve
the same transaction or legal dispute or if there is otherwise a substantial risk that confidential
factual information as would normally have been obtained in the prior representation would
materially advance the client’s position in the subsequent matter.” Ky. S. Ct. R. 3.130(1.9) (cmt.
3) (emphasis added). The court also relied on “a well-regarded opinion” from a federal district
court in Kansas:

In determining whether a substantial relationship exists, the court evaluates the

similarities between the factual bases of the two representations. A commonality

of legal claims or issues is not required. At a functional level, the inquiry is

whether the attorneys were trying to acquire information vitally related to the

subject matter of the pending litigation. To accomplish this inquiry, the court
must be able to reconstruct the attorney’s representation of the former client, to
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infer what confidential information could have been imparted in that

representation, and to decide whether that information has any relevance to the

attorney’s representation of the current client. What confidential information

could have been imparted involves considering what information and facts ought

to have been or would typically be disclosed in such a relationship.

Consequently, the representations are substantially related if they involve the

same client and the matters or transactions in question are relevantly

intercovnnected ot reveal the client's pattern of conduct.

Bowers, 733 F.3d at 652 (quoting Koch v. Koch Indus., 798 F. Supp. 1525, 1536 (D. Kan. 1992))
(emphasis added). In other words, this Court must determine what confidential information
might normally have been learned, not what information actually was learned.

As the Bowers court explained, in analyzing this motion to disqualify counsel, “the court
must look to the general type of information that the potentially conflicted lawyer would have
been exposed to in a normal or typical representation of the type that occurred with the now-
adverse client.” Id. (citation omitted). “Admittedly, this approach has its difficulties, most
notably that reconstructing a representation using generalities is less exact than examining what
actually happened. Nonetheless, this method presents a necessary alternative to engaging with
the specific—perhaps confidential—facts surrounding a potentially conflicted attorney’s prior
representation of a now-adverse client.” Id.

1L
The Court now applies this approach to the present case. The parties do not dispute the
first part of the test: attorneys from Manion Stigger and Cooper & Elliot tepresented Pinnacle in
the Wells Fargo dispute, and Pinnacle is now directly adverse to their current clients, Loehnert
and Ayres. The second part of the test is the issue here: If the Court determines these matters are
“substantially related,” the attorneys have a conflict and must be disqualified. As the Sixth

Circuit described in Bowers, the first step in determining substantial similarity is to reconstruct

the prior representation of Pinnacle in the Wells Fargo matter. From this, the Court must
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determine whether there is a substantial risk that confidential information as would normally or
typically have been obtained in the attorneys’ prior representation of Pinnacle would materially
advance the positions of Loehnert and Ayres in the present case. See id. at 653. Counsel must
be disqualified if the Court determines the matters (1) are relevantly interconnected or (2) reveal
the Pinnacle’s pattern of conduct. See id. at 652 (quoting Koch, 798 F. Supp. at 1536).

A.

To track the Bowers analysis, the Court first reconstructs a “normal or typical
representation” of the type in the Wells Fargo matter. See Bowers, 733 F.3d at 653. In that case,
Loehnert and Ayers left their jobs at Wells Fargo to work at Pinnacle, so Wells Fargo sued
Lochnert, Ayres, and Pinnacle, and these three defendants asserted several counterclaims. Wells
Fargo asserted six causes of action in the suit, including claims against only Loehnert and Ayres
(breach of contract, breach of fiduciary duty of loyalty, and breach of covenant of good faith and
fair dealing), and claims against all three defendants (violation of Kentucky trade secret statute,
unfair competition, and tortious interference with contract). Ultimately, the Manion Stigger and
Cooper & Elliot attorneys negotiated a confidential settlement on behalf of all three defendants
in that case. Both sides of the currént litigation—Pinnacle and Loehnert and Ayres—have access
to this agreement.

In a typical representation of the kind in the Wells Fargo matter, Pinnacle’s counsel
would have obtained various pieces of confidential information that could be helpful in
representing Loehnert and Ayres in this action. Most significantly, how much were Loehnert
and Ayres worth to Pinnacle? In negotiating the Wells Fargo settlement, the attorneys would
have learned whether Pinnacle was willing to pay or make advances on any amounts owed to

Wells Fargo for violating their employment agreements. If Pinnacle was willing to pay, the
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attorneys likely would have been given a maximum amount that Pinnacle could afford to spend
on the new employees. Moreover, the attorneys would learn Pinnacle’s litigation and negotiation
strategies in cases involving employment contracts, trade secrets, and fiduciary duties. This is
information that, but for their representation of Pinnacle in the Wells Fargo matter, these
attorneys could not have otherwise obtained. If obtained, it would certainly be useful to
Loehnert and Ayres in litigation and potential settlement discussions in the present case. Under
Bowers, whether the attorneys actually learned the information is not directly relevant.

B.

After determining the type of confidential information that would be shared in the
“normal” representation of the type in the Wells Fargo matter, the Court must examine whether
the matters are “relevantly interconnected” or reveal Pinnacle’s “pattern of conduct.” Bowers,
733 F.3d at 652 (quoting Koch, 798 F. Supp. at 1536). Though either would be grounds for the
Court to find substantial similarity, the Court finds that both apply here.

Though the Wells Fargo matter and the current lawsuit involve different employment
agreements, fiduciary duties, and trade secrets, the matters are “relevantly interconnected” for
two reasons. First, the promissory note and loan from Pinnacle to Loehnert and Ayres are
contentious in the present litigation, and both stem fiom the Wells Fargo litigation. In the Wells
Fargo matter, the parties agreed to a confidential settlement agreement. The parties have
disclosed that this agreement required them to make two $100,000 payments to Wells Fargo—
one in June 2013 and another in June 2014, The parties now disagree on the purpose of those
payments. In one of their counterclaims against Pinnacle, Loehnert and Ayres assert that
Pinnacle “has failed to pay the $100,000 owed under the Promissory Note which was due and

payable on June 4,2014.” DN 7 at 9. By contrast, Pinnacle asserts that it satisfied the $100,000
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Promissory Note and also advanced $100,000 on Loehnert and Ayres’s behalf to assist them in
paying their settlement obligation to Wells Fargo. DN 20 at 10, n.10.

Second, the interpretation and enforceability of the Employment Agreement are also
contentious and related to the Wells Fargo matter. Broadly speaking, the whole basis of Wells
Fargo’s suit against Pinnacle was that it employed Loehnert and Ayres; and, of course, Pinnacle
employed the two through the Employment Agreement.7 More specifically, Pinnacle points to
the contentious $250,000 liquidated damages clause. As the Court noted in Section I of this
opinion, the terms of this provision state that Loehnert and Ayres understood “that Pinnacle will
only receive appropriate return on its investment in the Kentucky office if the office remains
open and profitable for a period of time.” When the parties entered into the Employment
Agreement, everyone was aware of the Wells Fargo litigation, Pinnacle has now taken the
reasonable position that the resolution of the Wells Fargo litigation was a significant factor in
determining that $250,000 would enable it to “receive appropriate return on investment.”

Loehnert and Ayres dispute this claim, but the Court fails to see how they could know
what Pinnacle considered—at various points in their response and surreply to this motion,
Loehnert and Ayres emphasize that Pinnacle had its own separate counsel in negotiating the
Employment Agreement. What the Manion Stigger and Cooper & Elliot attorneys could know,
however, is the value that Pinnacle placed on these two employees from their prior
representation in the Wells Fargo matter, And this information could be critical in litigating and

negotiating the disputes over the promissory note and the Employment Agreement.

7 Pinnacle seems to argue that the Cooper & Elliot and Manion Stigger attorneys should be disqualified in this
matter because they had a concurrent conflict in negotiating Loehnert and Ayres’s employment agreement with
Pinnacle while the Wells Fargo matter was still pending. This argument fails because, even if the attorneys had a
concurrent conflict in that negotiation, that was a separate matter from the current litigation and would not be
grounds for disqualification now. Pinnacle could have raised its objection to its counsel’s participation in the
negotiations at that time.

10
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The Court well understands that the Bowers analysis may seem unfair to the attorneys.
They would prefer to require Pinnacle to prove that confidential information was actually
communicated. However, the proper analysis does not prm./ide for such a showing. And,
because the Court finds the matters were “relevantly interconnected,” the matters were
“substahtially related” and the Manion Stigger and Cooper & Elliot attorneys must be
disqualified.

Iv.

There is another independent basis for disqualification: the matters reveal Pinnacle’s
“pattern of conduct.” There are many parallels between the Wells Fargo matter and this one. In
the Wells Fargo matter, Loehnert and Ayres were sued in April 2013 by their former employer
(Wells Fargo) when they quit to work somewhere else (Pinnacle) and allegedly broke an
employment agreement (with Wells Fargo). They also asserted counterclaims before settling in
June 2013, Here, Loehnert and Ayres were sued in June 2013 by their former employer
(Pinnacle) when they quit to work under their own entity (L.A. Surety) and allegedly broke an
employment agreement (with Pinnacle). They have also asserted counterclaims. In a “normal or
typical” representation like counsels’ representation of Pinnacle in the Wells Fargo matter, the
attorneys would have learned the value Pinnacle placed on Loehnert and Ayres through
Pinnacle’s litigation strategies, negotiation tactics, ability and willingness to pay to seftle claims,
and tolerance for risk in a case with many factual similarities to the present litigation.

Though “[ijnformation that has been disclosed to the public or to other parties adverse to
the former client ordinarily will not be disqualifying,” Ky. S. Ct. R. 3.130(1.9) (cmt. 3), it is not
hard to imagine how confidential information obtained in that former representation could have a

substantial impact in this case. And because a lawsuit of this kind could create a conflict

11
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between the employees and their new employer, a typical representation would have included
confidential conversations between the employet and its attorneys concerning the value the
employer placed on its new employees if the negotiations with Wells Fargo were to turn sour and
Pinnacle had to sacrifice the two to serve its own interest. This information could have a
substantial effect on the potential damages in this case—particularly in a possible negotiation.
Because the law firms® prior representation of Pinnacle would reveal a “pattern of conduct” in a
typical case, the matters are “substantially related” and the attorneys must be disqualified.

Being otherwise sufficiently advised,

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Pinnacle’s motion to disqualify the law firms of Manion
Stigger LLP and Cooper & Elliot, LLC is GRANTED and the law firms are DIS QUALIFIED.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that all discovery is STAYED while Loehnert and Ayres

obtain new counsel.

November 18, 2014 L %--1‘ '
John G Heybinn 1]

Senior Judge, U.S, Distriet Coirt

ce! Counsel of Record
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
WESTERN DISTRICT OF KENTUCKY
LOUISVILLE DIVISION

PINNACLE SURETY SERVICES, INC.
Plaintiff,

V. CIVIL ACTION NO. 3:15-CV-364-DJH

)

)

)

)

)

)

MANION STIGGER, LLP, )
COOPER & ELLIOTT, LLC, )
G. BRUCE STIGGER and )
)

)

Judge David J. Hale

REX E. ELLIOTT

Defendants. )
)

ORDER GRANTING PINNACLE SURETY SERVICES, INC.’S MOTION
FOR LEAVE TO FILE FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT

Plaintiff, Pinnacle Surety Services, Inc. (“Plaintiff”), having moved the Court for leave to
file its First Amended Complaint, and the Court being otherwise sufficiently advised,

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that Plaintiff’s Motion for Leave to File
its First Amended Complaint is hereby GRANTED, and Pinnacle’s First Amended Complaint is

deemed filed and made a part of the record in this matter as of the date of this Order.

#8896
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Tendered by:

/s/ P. Blaine Grant

P. Blaine Grant

HAYDEN GRANT PLLC

214 South 8th Street, Suite 301
Louisville, Kentucky 40202
Phone: 502-638-2817

Fax: 502-805-0707

Email: Blaine@hayden-grant.com

COUNSEL FOR PLAINTIFF




